DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 215 246

CG 015 849

AUTHOR

Benjamin, Libby; Walz, Garry R.

TITLE

Enhancing the Adult Experience: Counseling Approaches

and Activities.

INSTITUTION

ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel

Services, Ann Arbor, Mich.

SPONS AGENCY

National Inst. of Education (ED), Washington, DC.

PUB DATE

82

CONTRACT

400-78-0005

NOTE

141p.

AVAILABLE FROM

ERIC/CAPS, 2108 School of Education, University of

Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109 (\$10.00).

EDRS PRICE

MF01/PC06 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS

Adjustment (to Environment); *Adult Counseling; Adult

Development; *Career Change; Coping; Counseling

Techniques; Counselors; *Divorce; Helping

Relationship; *Leisure Time; *Midlife Transitions;

*Retirement

ABSTRACT

This document is one of three monographs resulting from a three-year study of adult Jounseling programs and practices in the United States. The first section of this monograph describes issues and potential problems associated with four frequently-experienced adult life transitions, i.e., divorce, midlife career change, preretirement planning, and leisure. For each area, three field-tested activities that counselors can adopt or adapt for use in their work settings are included. The second section provides an overview of adult development and adult counseling. Generalizations are presented regarding both the adult experience and appropriate adult counseling behaviors. For each concept, implications for the adult counseling profession are included. A brief summation of adult counseling is followed by extensive resource lists for the four selected life transitions and for the adult experience in general to offer more in-depth reading and practical counseling materials. (Author/NRB)



Enhancing the Adult Experience: Counseling Approaches and Activities

by
Libby Benjamin and Garry R. Walz

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (ERIC!

This document has been reproduced as received from the $y p r son \ c r$ organization originating if

- Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official NIE position or policy

PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

ERIL, CAPS

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)



The National Institute of Education



This publication was prepared with funding from the National Institute of Education, U.S. Department of Education under contract no 400-78-0005. The opinions expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the positions or policies of NIE or the Department of Education

ERIC COUNSELING AND PERSONNEL SERVICES CLEARINGHOUSE

School of Education
The University of Michigan
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109
Published by ERIC/CAPS



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
About the Authors	
Foreword	
Introduction	1
Major Adult Life Transitions	5
Divorce Counseling	7
Midlife Career Change Counseling	18
Preretirement Counseling	35
Leisure Counseling	51
Perspectives on Adult Development and Adult Counseling	65
The Summing Up and the New Beginning	81
Resources	85
Divorce Counseling	87
Midlife Career Change Counseling	104
Preretirement Counseling	112
Leisure Counseling	122
Counseling Adults for Life Transitions	129



ABOUT THE AUTHORS



This monograph is the latest in a long line of collaborative ventures by Benjamin and Walz. Libby, a Westerner by upbringing and education (M.A. from San Jose State University and Ph.D. from Oregon State University), joined the ERIC Counseling and Personnel Services Clearinghouse at The University of Michigan in 1974 as Associate Director of User Services. Previous to that time she was a teacher and counselor in public schools and served as a counselor educator, member of the counseling staff, and Admissions Counselor at the University of Alaska in Fairbanks. She also was active in counseling associations in California, President of the Alaska Personnel and Guidance Association (ASPGA), and Treasurer of the Western

Association for Counselor Education and Supervision (WACES).

Garry is Professor of Education and Director of ERIC/CAPS at The University of Michigan. A native of Minnesota (M.A. and Ph.D. from the University of Minnesota), he has directed the Clearinghouse since he founded it in 1967. He has held many professional offices and leadership positions, including President of the American Personnel and Guidance Association (APGA, 1971-72), President of the Association for Counselor Education and Supervision (ACES, 1966-67), and Chairman of North Central ACES (1965).

Benjamin and Walz are perhaps best known for the Life Career Development System a comprehensive program designed to teach life skills; for development of a number of competency-based staff development training modules; and for presentations and workshops throughout the United States and in several foreign countries on career development, stress, adult development, and change.



FOREWORD

In 1979 we embarked upon a three-year study of adult counseling programs and practices in this country. Immersing curselves in the literature on adulthood, visiting countless adult counseling centers, and consulting with adult counselors from Florida to Oregon, we developed insights and inferences regarding the adult experience. Three monographs have resulted from our activities. The first, Counseling Adulta for Life Transitions, describes the transitional process and identifies major life transitions which are predictable events in the lives of most adults. Programs and Practices in Adult Counseling, the second monograph, synthesizes what we learned about adult counseling programs in action and suggests guidelines for adult counseling program development. In this, our third publication, we attempt to put the three years into perspective and to provide an experiential map that illuminates the significant signposts of our journey.

LB and GRW



ENHANCING THE ADULT EXPERIENCE: COUNSELING APPROACHES AND ACTIVITIES

Libby Benjamin and Garry R. Walz

This monograph has three major sections. The first describes issues and potential problems associated with four frequentlyexperienced adult life transitions and includes for each area three field-tested activities that counselors can adopt or adapt for immediate use in their own work settings. The second consists of "cognitive leaps," generalizations regarding both the adult experience and appropriate adult counseling behaviors. Moving beyond inference, the authors also discuss the implications of their thinking for the adult counseling profession. The final section contains extensive resource lists for the four selected life transitions and for the adult experience in general that provide more in-depth reading and practical counseling materials for interested readers. The intent throughout is to buttress theory with practical applications and to offer the counseling readership information and strategies that will be useful to them in their work with adult clients.

INTRODUCTION

Why do we talk about improving adult counseling strategies when the future of adult counseling is so uncertain? As the need for adult counselors and the evidence of their effectiveness grows, available support appears to be decreasing for all of the human services, a situation which has dispirited helping professionals. Our own experience over the past several years gives us hope, present funding problems not vithstanding, that the future for adult counseling is promising. Financial retrenchment should be a time for intellectual ferment and innovation—for sorting out essential from nonessential counseling functions, identifying the most promising practices, and distilling what we know about adult counseling into the most succinct and cogent terms possible. When the financial storm has abated and the dark clouds have given way to a rainbow of opportunities, we will then be ready with ideas and plans.



In this monograph we have worked to synthesize the available knowledge about adult counseling and interpret it from the perspectives gained through visitations to and analyses of adult counseling programs. We have chosen as our first target four adult transitions which possess great significance for the adult experience--divorce, midlife career change, preretirement planning, and leisure. In each of these we have combined extant knowledge with our own priorities and values. Believing that even the most captivating ideas will remain "shelf items" unless there is a direct, practical way to implement them, we have included with the discussion three field-tested counselor activities designed to promote the concepts and goals for that major adult transition. The activities provide counselors with examples of ways they can intervene to help clients manage critical life transitions more effectively. Using the activities will also prod counselors to sharpen their basic conceptions regarding a particular transition and to formulate additional counseling approaches.

While the first section draws a bead on four critical life events, the second broadens the target to include adult development and adult counseling in general. Here we bring together--"Our best hunch is . . .," "I believe . . .," "Our experience would strongly suggest . . .," and present these ideas as "cognitive leaps"--observations on those aspects of adult counseling which strike us as distinguishably significant. We also attach a "counseling implications" section to each concept discussed to emphasize the importance of linking substantive ideas with effective counselor practices.

If the first and second sections whet a counselor's appetite, the third section se 'es up a full four-course meal of resources for each of the four tran tional areas we discuss, plus a dessert of references on the adult experience. Most of these are available from the ERIC system, which contains a rich vein of inexpensive and readily retrievable materials that can be utilized in many facets of adult counseling. In a final rew paragraphs at the conclusion of the volume, we articulate our summation of adult counseling—from whence we have come and whither we should go.



Throughout our writing, we have unabashedly worked to blend superior adult counseling concepts with targeted, effective counselor practices. As the popular refrain goes, "Love and marriage go together like a horse and a carriage--you can't have one without the other." We take the posture that effective adult counseling cannot have one without the other, and that what we call counseling impact can only be achieved through the harmonious fusion of concept and practice.



MAJOR ADULT LIFE TRANSITIONS

The central and unchanging goal of the mature and integrated self is to chart its own course, to choose its own direction. (Stringer, 1971, pp. 81-82)

The work of the adult counselor is both broad and specific. It may involve helping an individual to lay out a comprehensive life career plan or providing a person with detailed information regarding a specific decision. A central core of the adult counselor's work is assisting clients to cope with major life transitions, changes that are predictable for most adults and that many will have difficulty managing.

In this section we discuss four major life transitions that counselors report are among the most significant for their adult clients. Three of these critical life events—divorce, midlife career change, and impending retirement—are the subject of much ropular media discussion because they will impact upon a broad segment if not the majority of the adult population. Assisting clients to prepare themselves for a transition or helping those in the throes of major change are ways that counselors can be genuinely helpful to adults. The fourth area, leisure, represents a more generic transition involving changes in attitudes and values away from the traditional work ethic and toward appreciation and understanding of the importance of leisure in achieving life satisfaction and self-fulfillment. An area worthy of attention for all adults, development of rewarding leisure pursuits also has special meaning for individuals experiencing other kinds of life transitions.

Adults experience transitions in ways unique to their own personalities and modes of behaving. Counselors can provide valuable aid to adults as they attempt to wrestle with and resolve the challenges of a particular life change. But counselors will have far more positive impact on each individual's life functioning if they can move a step farther—helping clients to expand their awareness of the transitional process and acquire coping skills that will serve them well in managing future critical life



events. Adult counselors thus have a dual task: to become as informed as possible about the characteristics of frequently occurring transitions and to learn all they can about effective management of the transitional process itself. We hope that our discussion of these four common adult transitions will broaden counselors' understanding of the issues and potential difficulties associated with each. We hope also that it will enlighten counselors regarding the dynamics of change and its likely impact on unprepared adults, and provide useful tools by which counselors can assist adult clients to increase personal power and control over their lives.



Divorce Counseling

Being born is a frightening and overwhelming experience. Getting divorced can be like being reborn. It may frighten you at first. But it is not so much an end of something as a beginning.

S. Gettleman & J. Markowitz
The Courage to Divorce (1974)

Introduction

Even though many couples today join forces without legal sanction, marriage continues to be the most preferred arrangement for living together. This, despite the fact that divorce statistics are skyrocketing and the chances of a couple's having a lifelong marriage are now only about 50% (and even less in large urban centers). If current divorce trends continue, that statistic will probably plunge even lower.

Until just a few years ago, divorce was considered to be a skeleton in the closet, something not to be discussed, a cause for shame. Practically everyone today, however, has either had firsthand experience with divorce or knows someone who has, and this, coupled with the recent proliferation of books and articles on the topic, is bringing divorce out into the open. Because it is such a common experience in American culture, divorce is also commanding increasing attention from interested sociologists, psychologists, and counselors. Recent research and the development of tested models for delivering services to divorcing individuals are helping to lift the veil of professional ignorance about the subject. We are beginning to learn more about causal factors and effects of divorce, typical emotional patterns of response in divorcing persons, and appropriate therapeutic interventions by those who would lend assistance.

The need for services during divorce is well-documented by self-reports, recent research, and national statistics. Hetherington and others (1976), for example, found that divorcing persons feel more



anxious, depressed, angry, rejected, and incompetent during and immediately following the experience than do those from intact relationships. Other researchers (Carter & Glick, 1976) point out the high rates of accidental death and suicide among divorced as compared with married persons. Crisis-line counselors report that over 80% of their hotline calls have to do with the dissolution of a relationship (Kessler, undated). And here we have a paradox. Graduate training for counselors is concerned primarily with socially acceptable human needs--enhancement of communication skills, assistance in self-exploration, career guidance, help with decision-making and goal-setting--when unhappy divorced individuals, anguished single parents, and troubled children of divorce are hungry for help. Some psychologists and religious counselors abandon individuals when the decision to divorce is made, feeling perlips that they have failed and their assistance is no longer required when the marriage disintegrates. It is as if to teach divorce counseling or to offer divorce counseling services is "tantamount to saying that divorce is as valid and as moral an alternative to marrial sonflict as conciliation" (Hunt, 1967, p. 15), an equivalence which of course counters our cnerished beliefs about the sanctity of marriage.

As the myths and stereotypes surrounding divorce are evaporating, divorce counseling services in various legal, psychological, religious, and social institutions are increasing. Divorcing persons can now obtain help from a variety of sources. We are at last recognizing divorce counseling as a legitimate professional field of endeavor. We are finally coming to see that divorce does not have to be equated with failure, that often it is a positive solution to an unsatisfactory situation, that divorcing persons may indeed be exhibiting the muchadmired qualities of strength, thoughtful judgment, assertiveness, and risk-taking.

Major Areas of Client Concern

The concerns of divorcing individuals can be divided roughly into two areas: (1) very practical issues having to do with financial security and division of assets, and (2) social and emotional needs.



<u>Practical/financial issues</u>. One of the most common problems of divorced persons is money-many report that they worry about money most or all of the time. Dissolving one household into two puts a strain on practically any budget, even when both spouses are working. Nonpayment of child support seems to be a major complaint for the custodial parent (usually the female), and enforcement proves to be very expensive or even futile when the noncustodial parent either has a low-paying job or simply disappears.

Ignorance of grounds for divorce in a particular state and of how settlements are made is typical of divorcing individuals. Many clients wish to avoid the expense, the chance of postponement, and the combative atmosphere of the courtroom but don't know how to do it. Trained mediators are now available in some cities to help couples settle disputes over division of money or property, child custody, and visitation rights. The mediator, as a neutral third party, sits down with the couple and helps them negotiate their areas of conflict fairly and rationally. Some states also have what are called Conciliation Courts, programs funded by local communities, or county, state, or sometimes Federal agencies, that offer mediation and counseling services to clients.

In order to help clients resolve the practical issues of separation, counselors should have a wide knowledge of family law in their state and of the various agencies or organizations that offer these support services.

Social/emotional issues. As the process of divorce unfolds, individuals typically experience a wide range of emotions, including negative feelings of disappointment, anger, apathy, fear, grief, guilt, self-recrimination, and loss of self-worth, as well as positive feelings of freedom and anticipation—and wide swings between. Historically society has adopted a punitive stance toward divorce in both laws and attitudes. In recent years laws in most states have changed dramatically to broaden the grounds for divorce and to reduce the length of time required to obtain a divorce, but emotional intolerance still exists. The use of such terms as "broken home" or "the rupture of a marriage" and the



exclusion of the divorced person from social activities in a coupled community add to the already heavy pressures on those experiencing divorce.

Most of us marry with every hope and expectation that the union will be permanent; we promise to join together until parted by death. To break that vow means that we have failed, that somehow we are less. Divorcing then becomes a time of intense self-examination, usually to our detriment, and requires a restructuring of the self, not only as a single person but as a self-sufficient, competent, worthy single person. Many individuals need help in accomplishing this transition, in sorting through their feelings, in learning new behaviors that will help them grow from the experience.

Counselors can provide the needed tools for growth by helping divorcing or divorced individuals find emotional release, explore and correct their own perhaps faulty assumptions and self-defeating behaviors, and acquire new or polish up rusty social skills. By bringing together a number of clients with similar problems, counselors can create the support network each member needs in the struggle to achieve sound mental health and productive living.

Stages of Divorce

Dr. Sheila Kessler (1975b) has identified seven emotional stages that appear to be typical of persons going through divorce. All people do not experience all of the stages, the stages are not necessarily chronological, and they vary greatly in intensity and the length of time needed to work through them. We briefly describe these emotional stages below to broaden counselors' understanding and to substantiate in greater detail the needs of individuals experiencing divorce. Readers are urged to consult Kessler's book for a far more in-depth discussion of each stage.

1. <u>Disillusionment</u>. This stage occurs when one or both spouses realize that their marriage is not satisfying, that their differences are real and deep. They feel disappointed, frustrated, restless.



- 2. <u>Erosion</u>. Disappointments surface in the next stage as the partners begin to criticize one another, to undermine each other openly or subtly, to blame the other for their feelings of dissatisfaction, to neglect known needs and wants of the other.
- 3. <u>Detachment</u>. In this stage emotion is replaced by apathy. The energy to fight or try to correct the poor situation is gone because the feelings are gone. The attitude is now one of "I don't care." What formerly provoked hostility now loses its capacity to engender any response at al?. Extramarital affairs are typical of this stage, as are small but significant steps toward dissolution of the relationship such as single bank accounts, job search in another community, plans to take a vacation alone, confiding one's troubles to others.
- 4. <u>Physical separation</u>. Moving out is perhaps the most dramatic stage because it is the most visible. When this happens, people may feel shock or panic, may experience broad mood swings that often lead to a (mostly temporary) return to the other spouse, may feel the urge to withdraw from everyone, have to face the perhaps harsh reactions of family and friends, and encounter all the problems of trying to work things out financially.
- 5. Mourning. Even when both spouses realize fully that divorce is the only answer, is indeed the good and right answer, they often experience a profound sense of sadness and loss. That this marriage that started so well and had every potential for success was not successful engenders private feelings of grief. Mourning is a cleansing process that allows individuals to get rid of remaining feelings of guilt or love so as to make room for new experiences. Anger sometimes helps to purge the old feelings as people bring unpleasant realities to light and voice their lingering resentments or hurts.
- 6. Second adolescence. Once the most difficult problems of physical separation and mourning are worked through, the newly-single individual often feels "like a kid." Freedom from former constraints may lead to excesses in behavior as people test their new limits. A κ : love or



a new hobby or freedom to travel can cause people to feel as excitable and vulnerable and questioning as they did in their youth. Many adopt new behaviors, new friends, while others come to have a new and deeper appreciation for their own deep-rooted values and the loyalty of former associates.

7. <u>Hard work</u>. The transition is now complete and the hard work on making a new life begins. People have conquered the negative emotional consequences of divorce. They begin to set new goals appropriate to their changed status and often feel a new confidence and sense of mastery over what they can be or do.

What we call divorce counseling really begins at Stage 4 when the couple has actually separated. Up to that time the spouses are still unsure about their commitment to the marriage and professional interventions are directed at helping them deal openly with and resolve their conflicts (i.e., marriage counseling). Most divorce counseling occurs with just one individual from the former partnership, the purpose being to help the person rebuild emotional autonomy, regain a sense of identity in the changed role, and move into a new kind of life with equanimity and strength.

Program Considerations

Because creating a support structure is one of the major goals of a divorce counseling program, the group format is by far the most effective way of providing services. Experience suggests that the group should number between ten and fifteen persons—small enough for each member to share personal concerns with and receive help from the others, large enough for the exchange of a variety of ideas and points of view. Having members of both sexes is helpful, as is a blend of different ages and stages in the divorce process. Former spouses should not be in the same group because, as we have said before, establishing a new identity and developing autonomy as a single person is a primary goal of divorce counseling.

Admission to the group requires that members be separated from their spouses and be somewhere in the divorce process. That is, the concerns of people who are still living with their spouses and who have not yet made a firm decision to divorce are far different from those of individuals trying to adjust to divorced status.

Groups usually meet weekly for a predetermined number of weeks, six to eight, and an established period of time, two to three hours. Some flexibility should be provided in the event that the group wishes to contract for additional meetings. Experienced divorce counselors have found it best to balance content between unstructured, client-originated discussion topics and formal skill-building exercises.

Divorce counseling requires a group leader with consummate skill in group process, able to handle emotionally-charged issues with sensitivity and understanding. It is especially important that the leader have clarified his/her own attitudes and values regarding divorce so as to be as nonjudgmental and impartial as possible. Divorce counselors need not have gone through a divorce themselves in order to be effective in their role, but group members invariably ask this question of the leader and seem to gain reassurance in knowing that he/she has experienced pain akin to theirs.

We are speaking here of a group counseling model generally found in an agency setting or conducted by a trained psychologist in private practice. Some universities also provide similar services as extracurricular activities for interested students or optional course choices. Resources that can be extremely helpful to divorce counselors in designing their programs are the film produced by the American Personnel and Guidance Association (1976) entitled "Divorce: Part One," and the guides for leaders and group members produced by Dr. Sheila Kessler (1977a, 1977b). Citations of other excellent materials are found in the Resources section of this publication.



Counseling Activities

In this portion of the chapter we share some specific activities that have proven to be effective in helping divorced individuals profit from group counseling. We hope counselors will feel free to adapt them in any way that seems appropriate for their own particular leadership style and client group. An extensive bibliography of interesting literature on divorce and trainer materials is provided in the Resources section of this monograph.



Ice-Breaker

As individuals meet for the first time, they are naturally tense and anxious about whether they will like and be accepted by other group members, whether they can trust the others, whether the group will be truly helpful to them. Investing themselves in the group and having the courage to share their deepest concerns is mandatory if members are to achieve the greatest gains from the experience—behaviors that are very difficult for many. To help break down these very natural barriers and to begin creating a feeling of cohesion and trust, the group leader can open the first session with an activity in which members can start the sharing process while maintaining feelings of safety.

After the group is assembled, the leader asks members to form pairs and introduce themselves to one another. As part of the introduction they also tell their partner one of the most difficult problems they are experiencing in adjusting to divorce. They are cautioned to share only something that they don't mind others knowing. After the activity is concluded (about ten minutes), each person then introduces his/her partner to the others. In the process each group member has begun to make a new friend and has allowed someone to enter his/her life, if only tentatively. Having had the opportunity to experience the attention of the whole group also makes it much easier the next time anybody wishes to volunteer a comment.



25/

Focusing on Group Needs

Dealing with topics of greatest importance to members is of course a major goal of the divorce counseling process. An excellent way of identifying those areas and of helping individuals clarify and classify their concerns is to create a kind of "needs assessment" of common problems. Using a semantic differential approach, group members check the topics which they find most critical to themselves at the present time. These are then discussed by the group at the desire of each member. Examination of the completed checklists helps the group leader to customize the program to the needs of the majority of the members.

Below is a sample checklist of problems commonly used as topics of discussion within divorce counseling groups. Counselors should add or delete specific topics as desired.

Making new friends Dealing with anger/resentment/revenge Money and need for financial information How to be both father and mother to my child(ren) Dealing with guilt/failure Telling significant others about the divorce Job-hunting and vocational choice Appropriate sexual conduct and self-standards Dealing with loneliness Forgiving former spouse Combating the urge to withdraw from everything Dealing with censure of others Communicating with former spouse Setting new goals Gaining the courage to become involved in a new intimate relationship Letting go of former spouse Ent_ncing self-concept Identifying areas of needed behavior change



Creative Conduct

Building new skills takes practice. The group provides a safe, nonthreatening environment in which people can experiment with new behaviors and report back on what happened when they tried them out in real situations. The role play is an excellent yehicle for helping group members learn new ways of behaving in typically tense and formerly explosive situations.

Using topics from the critical problem checklist which appear to be of most interest and concern, pairs or triads of group members role play short skits about very common problematic experiences in their lives and then discuss and practice creative and more positive kinds of responses. Not only do they gain new insights into subtle ways their particular mode of acting and talking may have contributed to conflict, they also pick up new skills from watching others begin the process of positive change.

Counselors can harness group creativity in the production of these behavioral vignettes or can utilize the APGA (1976) film mentioned earlier as the catalyst for discussion and skill-building. This film provides visual situations with scripts that address typical issues confronting individuals going through divorce.



 $^{17}22$

Midlife Career* Change Counseling

In order that people may be happy in their work, these three things are needed: They must be fit for it: They must not do too much of it: And they must have a sense of success in it.

J. Ruskin
Pre-Raphaelitism (1851)

Introduction

In the hundred-plus career development workshops we have conducted about the world for adults of all ages, we often pose questions like these to our participants:

"How many of you have stayed in the same career since you finished your formal education?" (very few hands go up)

"How many have made one major career change?" (few hands)

"How many have changed careers twice?" (half the group)

"How many of you would consider that you have made a major career change three or more times?" (one-fourth of the group)

The data are unrecorded and sketchy, the population markedly skewed in the direction of highly educated professionals working in human services (but some have moved into the field from other occupations!), the questions nonstandardized. But the conclusion is inescapable. Second, and even third, careers are now commonplace, at least in our line of work; and statistics from the following study by Arbeiter and others



^{*}We should explain at the outset of this section that we are risking the wrath of modern adult development theorists by using the terms "career" and "occupation" interchangeably. Today "career development" is generally construed to mean maturation and change in all aspects of living: personal growth, family and civic life, leisure pursuits—as well as occupational choice. We truly agree; and a review of our writing, production of resource materials, and programmatic activities will reveal that we totally support this concept. Making the terms synonymous is a bow to the widespread understanding and use of the word "career," and we ask readers to take this point of view in our discussion.

substantiate the movement of individuals from all segments of society from one career to another.

The data showed that 36% of the population between the ages of 16 and 65-more than 400 million Americans-are in a career transition status . . . Adults in transition want career services of all types . . . most in-transition adults do not know about agencies offering job or career help in their communities. (Arbeiter et al., 1978)

When career change occurs during the middle years, many questions arise about what are the effects on the person. What, for example, are the motivating forces experienced in midlife? What shifts occur in our psychological well-being and sense of identity? How do we learn the new skills required in a new occupation, respond to possible changes in our self-image, become socialized into a new work role and work environment? Definitive answers to questions like these are still forthcoming, but empirical evidence and anecdotal records are mounting as the complex period of middle age captures the attention of increasing numbers of researchers and theorists. On one issue, however, all of our data sources converge: The midlife period is important, and how we respond to it is critical. Indeed, "it is the response to the middle age challenge which determines how the second half of a lifetime will be lived" (Waiz, 1978, p. 15).

Reasons for Changing Careers

Why do people change careers? Researchers have been delving into this topic only in the last decade and have had difficulty reaching general conclusions that would lead to a uniform adult psychology. Two studies, for example, focus on single prime causes for career change that seem to be prevalent in the male population. The aspiration—achievement gap, so named by Brim (1976) (i.e., the difference between the life career goals that men set for themselves early in life and the reality of what they have achieved) seems to be responsible for some career shifts. Levinson (1976) suggests that the feelings of frustration



and constraint experienced by men in the Becoming One's Own Man (BOOM) life stage may cause them to seek resolution of these feelings through occupational change.

Other researchers have tried to create a taxonomy of reasons. Entine (1977) suggests a kind of Johari Window matrix of causes for career shift involving those that are internal-external, anticipated-unanticipated. As a result of his doctoral research involving a sample of well-educated males, Clopton (1973) classified career changers into three categories: (Type A) those who shifted because of some major event that compelled them to reformulate their life goals; (Type B) those who became gradually disenchanted with what they were doing and sought an occupation that would provide more interest and challenge; and (Type C) those who, while content with their present career, felt that another occupation (which may have started as a hobby) would be more deeply satisfying.

Other studies reveal such a diversity of reasons that the investigators do not even attempt to categorize the responses (Sinick, 1975; Thomas et al., 1976) but simply list them in random order. Sinick offers the following motivations for changing careers, which he states still comprise only a partial list:

Initial career not person's own choice Career inappropriate from outset Original aspirations not met by career Purpose of first career accomplished Change of career required by changing goals Satisfaction sought for higher-level needs Dead end reached in terms of advancement Inadequate outlet for creativity Insufficient challenge to abilities Data-People-Things involvement inappropriate Incongruence with vocational interests Desire to implement avocational interests Disproportion between prescribed and discretionary duties Insufficient variety in work content Work pressures and deadlines too demanding Work becoming too physically demanding Work context source of dissatisfactions Employer policies and practices dissatisfying Purpose of employer enterprise incompatible Co-workers divergent in values and lifestyles Personality conflicts with supervisor or co-workers



Earnings outstripped by living expenses Desire to "keep up with the Joneses" Social status of occupation inadequate Insufficient time for leisure activities Greener grass in another field

(Sinick, 1975, pp. 20-21)

Besides such personally-oriented tugs that move people from one occupation to another are broad sociological, technological, and economic factors. These include changing familial patterns--postponement of marriage and childbearing, decline of the birth rate, increase in the divorce rate, alteration of marital life styles, growing availability of child-care centers; changes in the sex and age composition of the labor force, i.e., more women, more older workers; alterations in occupational patterns such as the shortened work week and job-sharing; a constantly shifting economy; and profound changes in attitudes toward work itself.

Thus, we can see that the reasons people decide to move from one occupation to another are as complex as the individuals themselves, and a product of forces within and without the person in myriad combinations.

Characteristics and Needs of Career Changers

Most studies have shown that career changers are not significantly different in emotional adjustment from those who remain in the same occupations over their working lives, and that midlife career change is not a symptom of aberrant behavior or chronic discontent. So we are not talking about a psychologically-flawed population; rather, we are speaking of a very large group of people representing every kind of occupation and a wide variety of socio-economic and educational backgrounds.

Those of us in our middle years are typically undergoing psychological redirection in value orientation, motivations toward work, and goals, as well as significant physical and environmental changes. Brown (1972) has created an interesting list of the current hypotheses regarding midlife career change and the causal or accompanying characteristics.



- 1. The middle-life experience for many . . . is an experience of re-establishment rather than of maintenance.
- 2. The middle-life experience for others is definitely a quest for maintenance . . . which may be resisted.
- 3. Vocational decision-making in mid-infe is far more complex, "soul-rending," and fearsome than it is at the earlier (adolescent) or later (retirement) points in life.
- 4. The failure to develop an adequate and effective life planning process before middle-life arrives may seriously hamper the individual's capacity to deal-with the forces of middle life.
- 5. The economic and social successes which are driving forces earlier are not likely to be as fulfilling in middle life.
- The major value orientations of life are up for reshuffling in middle-life.
- 7. The work orientation adhered to by many in the earlier years begins to fail, if it is to fail, during the middle years.
- 8. The problems of middle-life are not as likely to be physically derived as they are to be either psychically or life milieu related, but a high percentage of those seeking counseling may have significant physical problems.
- 9. The problems of unemployment are likely to be more significant in later middle-life than in earlier middle-life. (p. 20)

From the foregoing we may conclude that the way we as adults perceive and deal with career change depends upon our basic motivations, our experience with and expertise in life planning, and our attitudes toward change itself. Several of these hypotheses also reveal clearly that a career shift is more difficult during the midyears than at other periods in life because of the strong probability of deep-seated changes in our values, reasons for working, and life milieu. For many, midlife appears to be a time of questioning, of taking stock of who and where they are, of vulnerability, and for some, of fear.

While knowledge regarding this population is only in the embryo stage, enough data do exist for us to make an attempt at classifying the



needs considered to be typical of the largest number of midlife career changers.

- 1. Clarifying motivations for career change. First of all, people often need help in exploring their real reasons for wanting to change their occupation. here we are speaking primarily of voluntary career changers, but even those who are forced out of an occupation for one cause or another often need assistance in examining their reasons for having chosen a particular career and determining the factors in a new career that will bring them the most satisfaction. In either case, career shifters should consider carefully their overt as well as their hidden or less conscious reasons for making a career change and develop honest answers that will help them make wise career choices in the future.
- 2. <u>Bolstering self-confidence</u>. Lack of self-confidence seems to be a prominent characteristic of midlife career changers--feelings of being deficient in the knowledge or skills required in a new job, of insecurity in moving into new relationships, of anxiety and misconceptions about their employment potential and about the aging process itself.
- 3. Assessing self. Wise career decisions can only be made when individuals are keenly aware of their abilities, skills, interests, values, and needs. Few middle-aged adults have had the opportunity for in-depth self-examination with the help of a trained professional. They need to acquire extensive knowledge about their psychological and physical strengths and limitations and translate this information into occupational pursuits that will be rewarding and satisfying.
- 4. Enhancing decision-making skills. So often people embark upon careers for unsound reasons—because the choice was expected or desired by significant others, because of lack of awareness of their own motivations, because of erroneous information about or idealized perceptions of the outcomes of being in that occupation, or simply because of chance factors. Few workers have gone through the process of deciding on goals, imaging alternatives, and then weighing the advantages and disadvantages of following one course or another.



- 5. Enhancing employability skills. Many adults need help in learning how to prepare an effective resume geared to a particular occupation, how to complete an application, and how to interview. Many also lack job-seeking skills and don't know where to find sources of information that will be helpful in their job search.
- 6. Envisioning the effects of a career shift. No career change occurs in a vacuum. Sometimes those in the midst of the turmoil of changing careers have not thought through the ramifications of the move on self and family, on other social relationships, on economic security, on existing life style. They need help in considering and working through the short—and long-range consequences—that such a change will entail.

In designing their plan for service delivery, counselors can translate these needs into broad goal statements, each with sub-objectives that describe specifically how clients will be different as a result of the counseling experience. The critical step is to assess the needs of a particular client group; emphases will change as the group composition changes.

Program Considerations

Several characteristics of adults have implications for counseling and counseling program design. As we have said before, there is yet no tried and true model for counseling career changers. We are in a relatively new field that has only recently commanded the attention of researchers and theorists. We lack historical perspective, empirically verified techniques, and validated materials. But we have made a beginning; and the things we have learned about adults will be highly significant in designing counseling procedures. The following statements, therefore, are only suggestions, but they have evolved from the experience of the authors and others who have helped adults formulate wise decisions regarding their careers.



- 1. Format. The most common, and apparently the most effective, mode of service delivery for adults is group counseling—through classes, workshops, seminars, and small group meetings. Adults seem to benefit from sharing their own and hearing about others' problems and concerns. While the amount, depth, and variety of experience will vary significantly according to the age and work backgrounds of group members, each gains from hearing about others' successful and not-so-successful attempts to resolve career-related problems. A support structure thus develops that provides much reassurance as individuals work through their difficulties together.
- 2. <u>Scheduling</u>. Practically all of the clients who seek counseling regarding career change are currently working. Meetings therefore should be scheduled in a convenient and central location, at times (usually evenings) appropriate for employed persons. Groups usually meet once a week for two to three hours and consist of not more than ten to twelve persons with one trained facilitator.
- 3. Approach. Many techniques appropriate for younger individuals are not successful with adults. Most adults have experienced "being in charge"--they have made decisions, they have been responsible for themselves and others, they have a realistic sense of what's out there in the world. Thus, the counselor must maintain a delicate balance among the roles of teacher, facilitator, friend, and peer. While the fact of their seeking the services of a professional counselor is an admission that group members can benefit from assistance, help should be offered in a way that maintains their self-: espect, reinforces their already proven ability to cope with various dilemmas, and encourages their presence in the group. Because of ambiguous feelings about joining the group, a few clients will use every occasion to challenge and test the wisdom and experience of the group leader. These defensive actions should be handled with sensitivity and understanding by the counselor, who can also aid the person to gain insight into the reasons for his or her behavior.



4. <u>Content</u>. Major emphases in the content of the counseling program will depend on the needs of the group. Administering a brief needs assessment in the client screening stage or at the very beginning of the first group session helps the counselor to tailor the activities and discussion to the greatest satisfaction of all members. Because group members may be at very different places in age, work experience, and educational attainment, it will be impossible to meet everyone's needs at all times; but the broad goals of the program should evolve from the needs expressed by the majority of members. Some clients may require individual counseling on issues not of concern to most of the others.

Career change counseling typically includes the following emphases:
(a) exploration of self, including values, interests, strengths, skills, needs, life style preferences; (b) relating knowledge of self to suitable occupations; (c) bolstering self-concept; (d) enhancing decision-making skills; (e) improving employability skills; (f) considering the effects of career change on self and significant others; (g) acquiring specific information on appropriate job opportunities; (h) developing new skills and interests; and, sometimes, (i) finding a job.

Some adults simply want information—specific, accurate, immediate—exclusive of any other service. Others will want and need to become far more proficient in "life skills" before they are read, to make a decision about changing their career.

5. <u>Tests</u>. We caution counselors to use tests sparingly, if at all. Traditional evaluation devices may have been designed for younger people and may emphasize abilities irrelevant to the purpose of the testing. In addition, adults often come to the counseling experience with negative attitudes toward testing based on less than positive school experiences. They may not have taken a test in many years and are liable to feel intense pressure to "do well." Finally, experience has shown that other means of assessment are more effective from a variety of standpoints.



When designing their programs, counselors will also want to keep in mind some other factors of a psychological nature that will enhance their effectiveness in working with adults.

For example, adults want specifics. They are impatient with material that is unrelated to their immediate concerns. They have need to be aware of their progress, to "see results." The relationship between what they are doing or learning and the real world needs to be made very clear as they are intolerant of abstractions or ambiguities. While broadening self-understanding and knowledge of career options is usually a necessary part of the counseling process, the ultimate aim in adult counseling is to narrow alternatives, focus interests, and help clients make appropriate, concrete decisions.

The family situation is extremely significant for midlife career changers, as any decision they make usually has strong repercussions within the family structure. A change in one person's career often puts heavy demands for change on other family members, and their willingness or unwillingness to meet those demands should be an important topic for discussion and clarification.

Crisis counseling techniques are frequently utilized in counseling adults because so often they need immediate relief from a particular life situation. Long-range and more developmental types of activities are eschewed as counselors attempt to bring all available resources to bear on the pressing problem. This is particularly true in career change counseling when clients have lost their jobs and are desperately seeking ways to support themselves and their families.

Counselors should also be extremely aware of their own possible bias toward "older" people. Career changers are often in their forties and fifties, or even in their sixties, and because they are themselves becoming sensitive to the inroads of advancing years, they are quick to pick up negative or stereotypical attitudes in others. Age-biased behavior shows itself when counselors communicate, however subtly or nonverbally, that certain behaviors are only appropriate to certain ages or that they possess negative attitudes toward any age group.



Decision-making is really the heart of counseling midlife career changers (as it is in the majority of counseling interactions). Few adults have actually learned a systematic decision-making process or examined how they themselves usually reach important decisions. Adult counselors should have thorough knowledge of the steps involved in effective decision-making and be able to demonstrate and model these behaviors for the group. And as often as possible, clients should have the chance to practice thoughtful decision-making both within and outside the group.

Finally, counselors should be fully knowledgeable about adult development so as to be able to sense where various clients are in their own growth patterns. Adult career counseling is not for the novice. Counselors will be tested every step of the way, and they should not only possess highly developed interpersonal relationship skills but should also be very knowledgeable about current career materials and available sources of needed information and/or referral.

Counseling Activities

Bookstores and magazine racks are literally crammed with hardbacks, paperbacks, and articles on confidence-building, decision-making, appreciating the beauty of middle age, and choosing the right career. Taking charge of your own life seems to be the most pervasive theme in the current literature, and many of the resources are of the self-help type.

Some of the most popular recent titles are listed with other more scholarly works in the Resources section of this monograph. Interested readers will also find sequenced materials for trainers to use with groups of career changers. The activities we provide here are ones we have used with success and are representative of the kind of materials found in the more comprehensive program guides. We do caution that they are presentation out of context, and, to achieve the most desired outcomes, should be integrated into a systematically organized series of experiences that are part of an objective-tased, carefully planned program.



<u> I am . . .</u>

9

The significance of career change is intensified when a person's work assumes priority over all other activities. Often people are unaware of how much their self-esteem and sense of value as a person is tied up with their occupation.

A very interesting way to tap into people's perceptions of themselves is to ask them to take a sheet of paper, put "I am . . ." at the top, and list the numbers 1 to 10 down the left'side of the sheet. Then, without giving any examples (which might skew the results), ask them to complete the statement "I am . . ." ten times. They can choose any words or phrases that they wish--anything that comes to mind--that they feel is truly descriptive of who they are.

After a few minutes, when all of the group members appear to be finished, have them form pairs and share their lists with one another. Then bring the group back together and ask questions like these:

- . 1. How many of your statements describe a role you play? Give examples as you ask each question, such as: I am a parent, I am a bowler, I am a machinist, I am a secretary.
- 2. How many of your statements describe your personal characteristics or feelings? Examples: I am sensitive, I am intelligent, I am impatient, I am excited about new adventures.
- 3. How many of your statements have to do with work or your work role? Examples: I am a good manager, I am task-oriented (if the person thought of it in relation to occupation), I am organized (again in relation to occupation).
 - 4. How many of your statements are related to life outside of work? Examples: I am a parent, I am hungry most of the time, I am a bridge player.
 - 5. As you examine your responses to Nos. 3 and 4, what does this tell you about yourself?



·1 `

6. What ideas or feelings do you have as you reflect on your responses?

Time should be allowed for discussion of and reactions to each question. At the conclusion of the activity participants often gain new insights into how significant career change is going to be, especially when their answers focus on roles and work as opposed to personal characteristics and other life experiences. They become more aware of the importance of the decision to change occupation and of the risks it may involve.

An optional procedure is to give everyone ten slips of paper and have them prioritize their completion statements before sharing them with someone else, shifting and moving the separate slips of paper into various positions until they are satisfied that the results truly reflect their ranked importance to the individual. The prioritized list then becomes even more meaningful as they consider the relationship of their perceptions of who they are to a new career.

Goal-a-Graph

The beginning stages of a planned program for counseling career changers will most often and most appropriately deal with self-exploration activities to bring participants to a new and sharper awareness of their personal characteristics, needs, and wants. One of the major activities in the program will be for people to set new goals for themselves and state the specific steps they intend to take to achieve them.

As a warm-up or precursor to this most important phase, we often use what we call the "Goal-a-Graph." This allows people to consider where they've been, where they are, and where they'd like to be in many aspects of life. To orient clients to the activity, we draw a rough approximation of the form on newsprint or chalkboard and, choosing one of the categories, e.g., "Physical," we use ourselves as an example.

We ask participants to put the words "I have been" at the top of the first column. (The reason we have people write in the column labels is because they seem to feel a greater sense of ownership in the experience than if the headings were printed on the form.) Then we fill in the space (talking the meanwhile) with words like "active, involved, regular exercise." The heading on the second column is "I am," and participants write that in the space. We then continue our example with words like "sedentary, non-active, TV watcher." At the top of the third column they write "I wish." In this space we put phrases like "regular exercise, jogging 3 times a week, 10 minutes exercise every morning." Then, in the last column, they put "I am going to." Here is their chance to state what they actually intend to do to make this last column approximate the "I wish" category—such as "get up early enough to exercise 10 minutes every morning." When we finish our brief example, participants complete each category of the form with their own statements.

This activity takes about an hour and includes discussion with a partner of the completed forms. The purpose is to give a broad overview of many categories of life career development and to put the totality of



the person into some kind of overall perspective. Actual goal-setting in the area of career change with statements of very specific objectives, of course, will follow this first broad summary.



GOAL - A - GRAPH

Garry R. Walz and Libby Benjamin

Physical			
Emotional			
Occupational			
Intellectual/			
Intellectual/ Professional			
Spiritual			1
Leisure time		•	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Interpersonal			3
	'		
Other		t	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	



Whose Problem Is This, Anyway?

Fitting in nicely somewhere in the program, usually after group members have set some initial goals, will be a session on barriers in which people identify the obstacles, both personal and environmental, that they believe stand in the way of their achieving whatever it is they want to do. It is often the case, however, that people are fixed in their thinking, unable to move because they have not freed their minds to consider all possible alternatives. So we allow others to do this for them.

In this activity participants form triads. One individual in the threesome, the "focus person," briefly describes to the other two a particularly sticky problem or decision, presenting as many pertinent facts as are necessary to give the others a reasonable idea of the situation. Then the focus person sits back, listens, and says nothing while the other two individuals debate his/her problem, one taking the side of "I'd like to _____," and the other the side of ". . . but I can't because . . ." (or whatever two opposing stances might be in the decision or conflict). The discussers use the word "I," in their arguments, each pretending to be the focus person. In the process of the dialogue, and because they are not constrained by any previous thinking on the problem, the discussers often open up new avenues of action, describe new ways of thinking, reveal new strategies for accomplishing a particular goal or solving a certain dilemma which the focus person has not considered.

When the "debate" is over, the three people examine the experience together, the two who discussed the problem acting as counselors to the focus person. When this round is finished, another member of the triad becomes the focus person and the other two play the same roles of discusser and counselor.

This activity can be very helpful in broadening the range of alternatives people need for wise decision-making and clarifying and helping to eliminate some of the often unnecessary barriers people construct for themselves.



Preretirement Counseling

Preretirement planning . . . requires each individual to . . . establish policies for living which have the greatest personal meaning. Your retirement is your responsibility.

Retirement Preparation Guide 10 (1977)

Introduction

Adjustment to retirement, that is, moving from full-time paid employment to a life of nonwork and leisure, is one of the major adaptive tasks of our later lives. The degree to which this adjustment is successful determines to a large extent how satisfying and rewarding our later years will be. It has been said that the younger a person is, the more glamorous retirement appears to be. As we grow older, however, our feelings are apt to change, and what formerly gave promise of being a roseate future with unlimited time to do exactly as we pleased may, as the time for retirement draws near, loom empty and purposeless.

For many, retirement may appear as a threat rather than a chance to prepare for a richer life--may be perceived as the first "insult" of aging (Manion, 1976), as evidence that they are "older" or "senior citizens." In cases where work has been the primary force and interest in life, retirees may feel that for them life is over, that they are no longer useful or needed and have been "put on the shelf." In other situations the enforced closeness of spouses who have heretofore spent little time together may strain the marital relationship. If a person has placed significant value on "success" (as defined by prestige and importance gained through a work role), retiring may reduce or eliminate the source of gratification and thus lower self-esteem. For individuals who value order and a fairly static existence, retirement may lead to a discomfiting lack of structure. And aging itself, with its concomitant organic and functional slowdown, may cause some persons to criticize



themselves unjustly for their decreased physical and cognitive abilities.

The change from gainful work to aimless living can set the stage for feelings of boredom, anomie, hopelessness, confusion, anxiety, isolation—a clinical syndrome known as "Retirement Shock." This condition may manifest itself in rhysical as well as psychological disturbances. Researchers (e.g., Ellison, 1968; Greene et al., 1969) have found, for example, significant correlations between illness and retirement, between strokes and retirement, between suicides and retirement. We may expect such problems to increase in the future as we move more fully into an automated-cybernetic era with shorter work weeks, a lowering of the retirement age, and increased life expectancy.

Well! We are painting a dismal picture indeed, which palette is not all that drab. Many persons herald the chance to retire with enthusiasm and eagerness. They look forward to the cessation of work as a period of potential enrichment which wil? Dvide freedom to pursue meaningful hobbies or interests kept long in abeyance, to read, to write, to travel, to move to a more desirable climate, to start a new career, and to search for personal wholeness and individuation. For those to whom financial security is guaranteed, the prospect of retirement can be even more golden.

What we may conclude from the foregoing discussion is that retirement means different things to different people. All of us know retired people who seem to be enjoying life to the fullest, who are "turned on" to their experiences, who continue to grow and learn as they encounter new roles, settings, and events. Most of us have also encountered retirees who seem to be unhappy, pessimistic, and frustrated, for whom life appears to hold little meaning. What makes the difference? Why is the transition smooth and positive for some, and for others, fraught with anxiety and feelings of despair? The answers to these questions are not simple; they depend on a myriad of factors within and without the person. But one clear fact emerges: People who plan for their retirement years and who possess realistic expectations concerning what the prospective changes will entail are more likely to move into the new life phase with equanimity and, yes, with anticipation.



Purposes and Importance of Preretirement Counseling

Preretirement counseling is a human service designed to prevent or minimize the problems and dilemmas of later years. The process of preretirement counseling includes helping people (a) to recognize the need for preretirement planning; (b) to develop clear and realistic expectations regarding what retirement will mean to them in their particular situation; (c) to acquire knowledge in several important areas such as preparation of a will and good nutrition habits; (d) to develop alternatives regarding their retirement future; and (e) to make choices that are consistent with their values, interests, economic situation, health, life style.

Preretirement counseling is of major importance today for the following reasons:

- 1. Most people do not systematically plan for their retirement without an external source of motivation. A counselor can provide that motivation. Even if concern with retirement issues is not the presenting problem, it may emerge that a client's anxieties about the future and/or concern about forthcoming decisions involve questions about the work role, and could be greatly reduced if he/she accepted the idea of retirement and clarified future plans.
- 2. Failure to plan for retirement can lead to serious problems.

 By assisting persons to anticipate potential problems, the counselor may help avert them. For instance, many people assume that interesting, satisfying leisure activities, will automatically appear to fill their time after they retire. And sometimes, for a short period of time, this may be true. Because work encompasses such a rajor portion of life, however, people often experience a vacuum when they stop working. Far too often leisure activities lose their appeal and individuals become bored and frustrated. If the counselor can help people to anticipate such problems, he/she can help them make suitable preparations or eliminate some problems altogether.



- 3. A trained counselor has ready access to more resources than does the average individual. Counselors who engage in helping people plan for retirement know what kinds of useful resources exist nationally and locally and can serve as resource linkers for their clients. Few potential retirees, at least as they begin the planning process, are aware of the numerous sources of help available through their company, educational institutions, or various groups or agencies in their local community.
- 4. Preretirement planning is facilitated when clients possess skills in decision-making, when they participate in small group interactions, and when they have the opportunity for one-to-one counseling. Many techniques used by helping professionals for other client concerns can also be effective in preretirement planning. Even clients who already recognize the need for planning can benefit from learning a systematic approach to problem-solving.

Major Areas of Client Concern

While each of us possesses highly personal thoughts and feelings toward retirement, the most commonly expressed concerns can be grouped into a few major areas. Counselors can help clients to plan more wisely if they make sure that they deal seriously with each of these topics.

<u>Finances</u>. Financial planning is paramount in the achievement of a worry-free retirement and is a very real concern of preretirees as they contemplate the rate of inflation and the possibility of a reduced standard of living. Truly effective planning for economic security should begin long before the time of retirement, but counselors can be of great help, even to non-planners. While they do not have to be financial wizards themselves, they can refer clients to various specialized investment advisers or local seminars that address this issue.

<u>Health</u>. The focus here is on the preventive aspects of health care such as good nutrition and exercise which, especially if started early, promote good health and fitness. A related topic that should be opened up for serious discussion is the concept of aging. People approaching



retirement often have fears about the potential decline of their physical, mental, and sexual vitality. By dealing directly with the aging process, counselors can help people come to view aging as a natural and positive experience.

Activities in retirement. The preretiree who states confidently, "I'm looking forward to doing nothing!" is in for trouble. When the routine of employ: t suddenly disappears, "doing nothing" or even pursuing the most absorbing hobby or leisure activity will not fill the gap. Most people recognize this, and many express strong concerns about "What will I do?" They want to continue to feel useful and to perform some kind of work--sometimes paid, more often volunteer. Counselors can help by having potential retirees engage in self-exploration regarding their values and strengths, and perhaps begin at once to identify and develop long-neglected or latent interests that will bring postretirement reward and satisfaction.

Social relationships. So often social activities are work-related, and leaving the job may cause many people to feel bereft and lonely. Preretirees need to think through their human relationships—with friends, co-workers, family—imaging how they will change with the life role change. If retirement involves moving to a new community, the picture shifts dramatically. For some, changing location will bring a sense of adventure; for others, feelings of sorrow and even fear at leaving long-time friends and the known. Being conscious of their present social interactions and activities can motivate individuals to take the initiative in preparing for change.

Place of residence. When retirees are no longer tied down to their jobs, in most cases they have the option of choosing where they will live. Perhaps their present home is too large now that the children are gone, or too expensive to maintain, or perhaps they just don't have the desire or the energy to keep up with annual leaf-raking, flower- and lawn-tending, or snow removal. For many the choice is dictated by where the children and grandchildren reside. Others may be pulled by the glamour of Arizona, California, or Florida.



The decision to move to a new location should be made with care by all older people. This does not mean that they should <u>not</u> make a change, only that they should think the matter through very carefully before doing so. Counselors can help people faced with such a decision by helping them to investigate important considerations before moving such as cost of living, climate, taxes, advantages and disadvantages of condominium living, and the like

Marital relationships. As we said before, even the most felicitous marriage can suffer when the usual patterns of togetherness and communication are disrupted through retirement of one or both spouses. Counselors can help facilitate adjustment to the new style of living together, as well as provide guidance on issues of sexuality which may be of concern to persons approaching retirement.

Personal growth and development. Individuals continue to grow and develop throughout their life span, but some potential retirees either don't know this or don't believe that it's true! Many need help at this critical point in their lives in identifying new goals or potential, or just in internalizing the fact that not only will they continue to maintain their present levels of functioning, they will also have the capacity to lead even richer lives than before. Through planned experiences in both pre- and post-retirement programs, many individuals, perhaps for the first time, have the time and the opportunity to conduct a thoughtful examination of who they are and what they would most like to realize from the last quarter or third of their lives. The results of this self-exploration can infuse the future with new purpose and meaning.

Death and dying. Preparation for the eventual death of a spouse or other close family members, as well as for one's own death, is an integral part of the aging process and must surely be considered as people make long-range future plans. Decisions regarding such issues as finances and location and type of housing will be strongly affected by the health of the retiree and should be approached openly and directly. Many people also need assistance through periods of grief or bereavement as they gather their forces to move forward alone.



Program Considerations

The number and kinds of services now available for preretirees are on the increase. Most large companies now provide preretirement planning help, although few do more than expose workers to a review of the pension plan and to discussion of questions that may arise about important retirement issues. Models of preretirement counseling programs proliferate; and while they differ in approach, duration, and format, they are quite consistent in content, containing information on income and finances, wills and estate planning, continuing education, health, housing, legal issues, role change, and creative use of time. A more recent addition to such programs is inclusion of activities having to do with exploration of psychological concerns and enhancement of self-knowledge.

The efficacy of the program, according to recent research, depends greatly upon the approach utilized. Large-group presentations, while useful for imparting substantive information, seem to be less effective in achieving employee satisfaction and raising employee consciousness and understanding than the small-group discussion format, which allows participants to voice their concerns and explore issues in a supportive environment. Evaluation studies also suggest that the most effective programs (a) combine solid information with experiences designed to enhance positive attitudes and behaviors. (b) utilize teaching and learning methodologies proven to be effective, and (c) are conducted by trained facilitators.

Few generalizations can be made regarding "typical" program length or group size. Variations are enormous, ranging from perhaps 200 individuals listening to a one-shot, 2-hour lecture; to groups of 30 to 50 preretirees attending 2- to 3-hour presentations over several weeks; to under 20 individuals experiencing an in-depth, 5- to 10-day workshop.

It is not our purpose in this section to present "the" most effective model of preretirement counseling. That has not yet been identified—and perhaps never will be because of the wide variety of needs and interests among those who will retire. Rather, we are suggesting



some strategies that we have found helpful in our own work with preretirees. Individual counselors can use these resources according to their own program goals and the chosen sequence of program experiences.

Counseling Activities

Each of the following activities is appropriate for small groups. Orientation to and instructions for the experiences can be given to a large audience; but for meaningful outcomes, discussion and reaction should take place among groups of not more than eight to ten participants. Groups can be facilitated by a counselor or leaderless, the purpose of the communication being for all group members to examine their attitudes and feelings, and reflect upon new insights, in the company of peers with similar concerns.

These suggested activities will give counselors a good start in their preretirement counseling efforts. They provide only a beginning, of course, but they do set the stage for what will follow by getting people really involved in the preretirement planning process and motivating them to take action. In the Resources section of this publication, readers will find an extensive list of resources that can be helpful both in the design of a preretirement counseling program and as sources of referral for clients.



Exploring Issues

An excellent way of getting people to become immersed in thinking about preretirement planning is to present them at the outset with some generalizations in the area (projections, facts, philosophy) and ask them to examine their own attitudes in regard to each statement. Listed below are ten such statements which counselors can use as is, or modify as desired. In groups of three or four, each group discusses an assigned number of issues and then shares a few major outcomes or insights from the discussion with the other groups.

- 1. On the whole, individuals maintain a high level of physical, mental, and sexual vitality well into their sixties.
- 2. Retirement is increasingly becoming a zone of choice in which individuals have numerous options regarding when and how the will retire.
- 3. We have become a graying society. The number of persons over 65 increases by 350,000 annually. There are now seven times more people over 65 than there were in 1900. And the trend will continue: 1 in 7 persons will be over 65 by the year 2010.
- 4. Systematic planning for retirement is the exception rather than the rule. An attitude of "somehow it will all work out" pervades the thinking of many. Even when helping services for retirement planning are available, relatively few people take advantage of them. Many see preretirement counseling as lacking in value; as an expression of personal weakness; or, if it is suggested by the administrator or boss, as an indication that they are "on the way out."
- 5. Retirement may be thought of as a phase of life which may occur at almost any age and under highly variable circumstances. Persons who plan for retirement and move into it gradually appear to derive the greatest satisfaction from it. Some people find it to be the most rewarding time of their lives.



ltwo of these activities are taken from Helping People with Preretirement Planning--An Introduction, (Walz, Benjamin, Mamarchev, & Pritchett, 1979), a module developed by the authors as part of a project sponsored by the then U.S. Office of Education, in association with the American Institutes for Research, Palo Alto, California.

- 6. Horking patterns of the future may differ significantly from the present. Greater movement will occur in and out of the labor force as people "stop-out" for extended periods of education and leisure. With projected trends that 15% of the population will be able to provide all necessary goods and services for everyone by the year 2000, many people will never experience occupational life as we presently do.
- 7. People will have increasing amounts of leisure time. Using leisure time for personal growth will become a major challenge, particularly for those without major occupational commitments.
- 8. Retirement will take on new meanings as it occurs earlier in life. Many people will spend one-third of their lives in retired status. For them retirement will occur at a time of their own choice, and they will be able to exercise options and pursue activities not possible during their working lives.
- 9. Increasing mobility, dual careers, changing marriage patterns, and greater involvement of family members in activities outside the home will change the structure of the family. The "empty nest" experience will cause people to seek new ways of finding support and of expressing and receiving love and caring.
- 10. New legislation and societal attitudes regarding retirement will provide more discretion for individuals as to when they retire and what they retire to. Many people will "phase into" retirement over a period of 10 to 20 years.



Planning in Action

As a departure from the usual sitting and talking format, we sometimes ask participants to leave the workshop site and interview various individuals working close by regarding their personal attitudes and future planning. For this activity we provide an interview sheet on which they record responses to their questions. Our participants have interviewed custodians, waitresses, academic faculty, maintenance personnel, administrators, secretaries, company presidents, elevator operators, hostesses, desk clerks, to name a few. The discussion which ensues upon their return is extremely stimulating—and revealing, especially in regard to the <u>lack</u> of thinking about the future on the part of most of the interviewees. Talking with "real people" about their lives brings an element of reality to the learning experience that reinforces the meaning and importance of what the participants are doing.

Below is a suggested list of questions that we have found useful in this activity. On the form itself, of course, room is left after each question to record responses.

- May I ask into what age range you fall? (20-30, 30-40, 40-50, 50-60, over 60)?
- 2. When do you plan or expect to retire?
- 3. How do you think most people feel about retirement?
- 4. How do you feel about your own retirement?
- 5. Have you thought about what you will do when you retire?
- 6. Have you taken any steps to plan for your own retirement? If so, what?
- 7. Do you think you could use some professional help in planning for retirement?



45 50

Preretirement Planning Checklist

A practical and systematic way of identifying areas of planning that may have been neglected or given less attention than needed is to use a retirement readiness checklist. The form contains statements relating to various areas in which people should do some planning and preparation. Each participant completes the checklist individually, checking those statements that are true for him/herself. Thus, the absence of a checkmark reveals clearly something the individual should think seriously about and/or do to round out the planning process.

After responding to the form individually, participants discuss in small groups what they have learned about their own level of preparation for retirement. Often we ask that participants contract with one another to perform certain actions or acquire specific knowledge to fill some of their personal planning gaps. The following pages contain our version of a personal checklist for preretirement planning.



²The checklist we use was adapted from the "Retirement Readiness Checklist" developed by Dr. Woodrow W. Hunter, Institute of Gerontology, The University of Michigan.

PERSONAL CHECKLIST FOR PRERETIREMENT PLANNING

Listed below are specific questions having to do with major areas of concern for preretirees. Place a check beside those things you have done in anticipation of the time you will retire. The items not checked will suggest areas to which you should probably give some attention.

<u>A.</u>	Financ	<u>e</u>
	_ 1.	I've found out how much it costs me to live now.
	_ 2.	I have a good idea of how much it will cost me to live after I retire.
	3.	I know what my income will be after I retire.
	_ 4.	I've determined which of my living expenses are likely to be less after I retire, and which are likely to be more.
	_ 5.	I'm paying up my big bills so that they will be out of the way by the time I retire.
	6.	I've tried living on the amount of money I'll get after I retire to see how things will work out.
	_ 7.	I've reviewed my insurance policies to see whether they meet my present and future needs.
	_ 8.	I've found out what I need to do to have some health insurance after I retire.
	_ 9.	I've talked with the Social Security people to find out what I should do before I retire in order to get my Social Security.
	_ 10.	I have made a will.
Β	Health	
	_ 1.	I get a qeneral physical examination at least once a year whether or not I feel sick.
	_ 2.	I'm watching what I eat in order to keep my weight down.
	_ 3.	I get some exercise every day such as a brisk walk or working in my garden.



B. Health	(continued)
4.	I see to it that I get enough rest every day.
5.	I've found out what kinds of foods I should eat every day to keep healthy.
6.	I have my blood pressure checked periodically.
7.	I check with my doctor if I have unusual pain or other symptoms.
8.	I take my physical limitations into account and try to live within them.
9.	I've checked over my home and corrected things that might make me fall or have some other kind of accident.
10.	I've had my eyes examined by a doctor during the past year.
C. Social	Relationships
1.	I've made some new friends during the past year.
2.	I'm making the effort to spend time with other peopleat my church or synagogue, at a club, or at the homes of my friends.
3.	I've visited a club or activity center for retired people to see what the club and the people are like.
4.	I take an interest in people who are younger than I am.
5.	I invite people to come to my home or attend social events with me, and I accept invitations from others.
If you are	married, respond to these statements:
6.	I am keeping in touch with my children or relatives by visiting or writing letters.
7.	I let my children or relatives run their own affairs.
8.	We make it possible for our children or relatives to get together for special occasions.
<u> </u>	My spouse and I have made our retirement plans together.
10.	My spouse and I have made some friends in common.



If you	are	not married, respond to these statements:
	6.	I am keeping in touch with my relatives or close friends by visiting or writing letters.
	7.	I let my relatives or close friends run their own affairs.
	8.	I make it possible for my relatives or close friends to get together for special occasions.
9	9.	I've discussed my plans for retirement with my relatives or a close friend.
10	0.	I've made a few friends who are close enough to me to take the place of a family of my own.
D. Use	of	<u>Tîme</u>
	1.	I've talked with some retired people to see how they spend their time.
2		I've thought about some specific activities I can do after I retire which will make me feel useful even though I will not be working.
3	3.	$I^{ \mbox{\tiny th}} m$ doing some reading or taking part in an educational program to learn something new.
4	١.	I'm learning a new hobby which I will enjoy doing after I retire.
5	5.	I'm keeping up with events so that I shall not come to be regarded as a "has-been."
6	5.	My spouse (or close friends) and I have talked about things we can enjoy doing together in retirement.
7	•	I've investigated possible volunteer activities I might enjoy doing after I retire.
8	3.	I've made some plans for what I will do immediately after I retire.
9).	I've thought how I can modify or adapt my present hobbies to suit retired status.
10	١.	I've investigated the possibility of part-time paid employment



		
If you	are	planning to stay where you are, answer these statements:
	1.	My spouse and I are in agreement on the decision to stay where we are.
, 		I've completed certain changes or repairs on my place so that I won't have the expense after I retire.
	3.	I've considered other possibilities such as moving into a smaller place or dividing our place into two units and renting one of them.
	4.	I've thought about what our neighborhood will be like 10 to 15 years from now.
	5.	$\dot{\Gamma}$ 've thought about what I (we) will do when I (we) am no longer able to keep my (our) own place.
If you	are	planning to move after you retire. answer these statements:
	1.	I've looked into the cost of living at the new place and decided that I can afford to live there.
	2.	I've tested the climate at the new place during more than one sealon of the year and know I will like it.
	3.	I've made some new friends at the new place.
	4.	I've found out that the new place offers medical care when and if it is required.
	5.	I've made certain that there will be plenty to do at the new place.
<u>F. Per</u>	sona	al Growth and Development
	1.	I know what kind of activities bring me the greatest pleasure and reward.
	2.	I have a clear idea of what my main strengths are.
	3.	I've set some short-term goals (6 months to 1 year) to work toward after I retire.
		I've set some middle-term quais (1 to 5 years) to work toward after I retire.
		I've made some plans to upgrade my knowledge or skill in a field of interest after I retire.

Leisure Counseling

He hath no leisure who useth it not.

G. Herbert

Jacula Prudentum (1651)

Introduction

Recently we overheard two sixtyish males talking together--Tom, recently retired and loving it, and John, about to retire.

"Say, Tom, you know there's a community college near your trailer court. Maybe you could apply to teach a summer session."

"Well . . . "

"Or, hey, that cafeteria near you is for sale--with your management skflls you could really turn that around. That'd be a good job for you!"

"John, I . . ."

"I'll bet you could make a pocketful if you organized some tours for these old ducks around here. They don't seem to have anything to do."

"Wait, wait, wait. John, now listen. I - don't - want - to - work! I'm happy. Play golf four times a week, ride my bike, exercise classes, little dinners with friends--man, I've got it made!"

"But, John, you have to do something!"

We remembered this conversation with interest because (a) Tom's attitude was so refreshingly unique and (b) John's words reflected an orientation to leisure that is typical of so many adults in today's world. And the roots of that orientation are buried deep in the foundation of American culture.

Leisure has had a long and sinful history in our society. The strong spiritual orientation of the earliest Americans caused leisure to be viewed as the devil's ploy. According to Nash (1953),

From the standpoint of the early Church, play was idleness and trifling as opposed to serious undertakings. It included gambling and licentiousness. Play was to be avoided—play was an instrument of the devil. (p. 83)



Besides the religious influence, it is easy to understand why leisure would be frowned upon when the birth of a nation required such dogged determination, incredible stamina, intense striving, and total dedication of its peoples. Early settlers equated leisure with laziness and nonproductivity, a wasting of precious time, and an avoidance of duty.

John's statements cited above illustrate how this strong work ethic continues to pervade our thinking and behavior. Many of us view leisure with suspicion and feel guilty if we are not avidly working toward some end that will bring external reward. Acceptance of leisure activities as a worthy and integral part of the wholeness of life still comes hard for a lot of us.

Appreciation and understanding of the appropriate place of leisure in life is gaining a foothold in the American consciousness, however. The myriad changes that have occurred as we have moved from a people struggling for survival to an affluent complex society are responsible for the current interest in leisure, which can only broaden as individuals find themselves with larger and larger blocks of uncommitted time. Consider, for example, the influences on leisure time of changing work patterns; technology and its impact on every facet of living; the increased potential life span; changes in sex roles, family patterns and life styles; ever-rising standards of living; heightened emphasis on physical fitness; availability of more and different types of leisure activities.

Underlying all of these forces that are moving us perhaps into a new "leisure ethic" is humankind's increasing insistence on creative self-expression, through work <u>and</u> play. With elemental needs satisfied, we are more concerned about the quality of our lives and the attainment of our potential; we attempt to realize all possible meaning and benefit from our life experiences. Because work offers minimal opportunity for many of us to express our uniqueness, we seek to satisfy this need through leisure time activities.

Leisure Defined

We typically think of leisure in relation to work. In the diction-



ary it is defined as "freedom provided by the cessation of activities; esp: time free from work or duties." However subtle, the implication of nonproductiveness, of idleness, of not doing something, comes through. With the recent changes in perspective toward the importance of leisure and its contribution to the fullness of life, leisure is now coming to hold far more meaning. This is probably best exemplified in the variety of definitions found in the current literature on leisure.

At the present time leisure definitions appear to fall into five major categories: time-related, activity-related, work-related, psychologically-related, and some kind of composite of all of these (Loesch, 1980). Time-related definitions suggest that leisure involves something one does in time left over from what one has to do, "time beyond that required, organically, for existence and subsistence" (Brightbill & Mobley, 1977, p. 5). Similar to time-related, the activity-related leisure definitions suggest that leisure involves any activity engaged in by personal choice, after completing required activities (Bull, 1971; Dumazedier, 1967). The most communon definitions, as we pointed out earlier, are workrelated. Wilensky (1960) speaks of two types: (a) compensatory, where individuals seek to fulfill through leisure the needs that work does not or cannot satisfy; and (b) spillover, where individuals partially satisfy their needs through work but seek deeper fulfillment through work-related activities. In the former, activities are usually quite different in nature; in the latter, quite similar. An important distinction to be found in work-related definitions is that work is externally rewarded by something extrinsic to the work, and leisure brings intrinsic reward to the individual through the performance of the activity itself,

Psychologically-related definitions are becoming far more prevalent as individuals assign increasing importance to personal freedom and self-actualization. For example, de Grazia (1962) says that the quality of feeling one has about an activity is a necessary component of leisure. Neulinger (1974) states that leisure is "a state of the mind; . . . a way . . . of being at peace with oneself and what one is doing" (p. xv). Putting it together eloquently, Bernier (1975) declares:



Leisure is the dimension of an individual's life in which freedom finds expression. It is a human condition that allows an individual to express his or her unique style and personal psychic rhythm. It is the quality that encourages self-exploration through meditation and silence and through the exteriorization and affirmation of the self through intimacy, creativity, philosophical speculation and ethical choice, and play. (p. 6)

Other researchers (Kaplan, 1960, 1975; Kelly, 1972) attempt to present models or lists of characteristics of and conditions for leisure, emphasizing the complex and comprehensive nature of the concept.

We can see from the above that if we are to do "leisure counseling," we will enjoy much latitude in focus, content, and approach. Indeed, the definitions of leisure counseling vary as Widely as the descriptions of what leisure is. Overs (1975), substituting the word "avocational" for "leisure," states that avocational choices are beset with the same difficulties as choice of occupation, choice of mate, choice of college, and so on, and concludes that while guidance can alleviate lack of knowledge, counseling is required to help individuals cope with choice anxiety, guilt, and fear (p. 36). This statement is supported by Weisberg (1975): Individuals must be helped to make meaningful personal choices to assure that [leisure] time is used purposefully (p. 14).

Focusing on typical counseling goals and techniques, Gunn (1977) defines leisure counseling as:

a process utilizing verbal facilitation techniques to promote self-awareness, awareness of leisure attitudes, values, and feelings, and the development of decision-making and problem-solving skills related to leisure participation. (p. 22)

Edwards (1980) avers that:

Leisure counseling is a process that occurs when a trained leisure counselor helps one person or a group of persons, of any age, to determine their present leisure interests, attitudes, and needsthen assists them in choosing and following leisure pursuits that are practical, satisfying, available, and unharmful. (p. 1)



A broader statement of leisure counseling is offered by Shank and Kennedy (1976):

Leisure counseling involves a careful examination of a person's background, beliefs, values and attitudes and becomes a development education process as well as a remedial counseling process. (p. 259)

Unfortunately, leisure counseling has not existed long enough to allow for the amount of research necessary to test and validate a theory or to develop a definition that will be truly descriptive as well as pleasing to interested practitioners. Current definitions evolve from the experiences of those who have engaged in the process of counseling clients regarding leisure time activities. But if we can summarize all of these definitions in any meaningful way, it would appear that the purposes of leisure counseling are to help people move toward greater self-understanding and personal growth (the underlying goa! of all counseling), broaden their interests, increase their knowledge of opportunities and facilities for self-expression within their own communities, and make choices that will enhance the quality of their lives and move them toward greater self-ful-fillment.

Research on Leisure

Child psychologists have recognized for years that play is a basic need of children. In 1946 LaSalle stated:

ŧ

If children are to be robust and healthy, if they are to have endurance, strength, and stamina, if they are to be physically fit and stand the strain of modern living, they must have adequate and vigorous play experiences. (p. 8)

Other researchers have found strong positive correlations between play activities and ideal physical development, alert intellectual functioning and good mental habits, desirable social skills, and a healthy self-concept (Anderson, 1960; Cowell, 1960; Mitchell & Mason, 1948). Adults also need to play—to engage in activities for intrinsic reward or self-renewal, to achieve a happy blend of work and leisure, duty and choice.

55



Some individuals seem to find creative and rewarding leisure outlets with little difficulty; others spend what free time they have snared by a television set or sleeping; still others choose less productive or even harmful ways of using up hours of boredom and inertia by resorting to alcohol or drugs. How do we choose leisure activities? What causes one adult to jog or sew or take courses in a nearby college or read or play tennis or learn gourmet cooking or carden or build a table—and another to be devoid of ideas or interests for leisure time pursuits? Such questions regarding the etiology of choice are capturing the attention of researchers as our healthy, long-lived population searches for ways to spend its nonwork time.

Some of the factors that influence adults in their choice of leisure time activities are easily recognized: natural talents, needs, availability of facilities, societally-approved sex roles, physical and mental condition, childhood leisure activities, economic situation, education, values, family and friends, social groups, prestige of the activity. Other causes are rooted more deeply and less visibly in who we are. Nash's study (1958; confirmed by Schmitz-Scherer & Strodel, 1971) substantiates the influence of the family on attitudes toward leisure and age of interest development. The findings show that 60 percent of interests begin before age 10, 70 percent before age 12, 20 percent between 12 and 20 years, and 5 percent after age 2T. The same investigation also explored the place of origin of leisure attitudes, skills, and interests. It was found that 70 percent of hobbies began in the home; 10 percent in school; 4 percent in camp settings; and 2.5 percent in clubs, churches, and playgrounds.

Other investigators have focused on a variety of aspects of leisure-time choice. A study of college women (Flynn, 1972) that examined the relationship between participation in physical recreation activities and undesirable behaviors (e.g., drugs, curfew violations) revealed that violators did not participate regularly and actively in physical education classes, and that when they did, it took the form of individual or paired activities. Thomas (1932) found that for young people to change to wholesome, satisfying recreational activities enhanced their self-image and interactions with society, and that such behavior change transferred from leisure to other aspects of life.



Schmitz-Scherer and Strodel (1971) conducted a longitudinal study relating to the influence of societally-approved sex roles on leisure choice. The findings showed that sex appears to be an important determinant of leisure time activity; that social variables, personality traits, and health are stronger determinants of leisure time activity than age; that differences in use of leisure time are established early in life; and that 90 percent of people's leisure time activities is structured before age 19.

Goodman (1969) attempted to relate occupation and personal time use of adults to childhood determinants. Results showed that self-direction is similar in work and leisure pursuits, that a climate of parent/child acceptance led to professions and autonomous use of time, and a climate of parent/child demand led to organized use of time.

The creative use of leisure time early in life appears also to have considerable bearing on health, longevity, and creative leisure time use in later life, as shown by a 12-year study of aging conducted by Dawson and Baller (1972). Findings of the study also indicated that development of the habit of using leisure time creatively contributes to satisfactory adjustment in retirement years. Satisfying leisure time involvement seems to be an important aspect of personality and psychological adjustment as well. Brooks and Elliot's (1971) longitudinal study indicated that leisure time activities in childhood may be more predictive of psychological adjustment at age 30 than personality traits, and that early involvement in leisure activities is essential for continued involvement.

We may conclude from the research evidence to date that identifying positive, enhancing leisure time pursuits can make an important contribution to our mental and physical health, our personality, our socialization skills, and our adjustment in later years to a nonwork role. It also appears that the home and family are a highly significant influence on our choice of leisure activities and our attitudes toward leisure itself.

Program Considerations

Because leisure counseling is still an evolving form of service, we have relatively little data to indicate who should be providing the coun-



seling and what are the most effective procedures to use. Leisure counseling services in the past have been primarily restricted to special groups—jail inmates, handicapped individuals, juvenile delinquents, high school students, senior citizens. Few programs have been oriented to the public at large. Dramatic changes are occurring in the leisure counseling picture, however, as the escalating need for leisure counseling services causes educational institutions and community agencies either to incorporate a leisure counseling component into ongoing programs or to develop a service geared specifically to this issue.

It is understandable that at the threshold of a new discipline we are still experimenting with goals, desired outcomes, and workable strategies. A few leisure counseling models have been developed (McDowell, 1976; Overs, 1970), but most leisure counseling approaches in use today are adaptations of those developed for other purposes and only a very few programs can claim to be systematically planned or competency-based, or to have accurate assessment instrumentation. The suggestions that follow, therefore, reflect more what is currently being done and what appears to "work" rather than clear guidelines for the establishment of leisure counseling services based on validated theory and practice.

Regardless of setting, client group, or individual counselor orientation, the major goals of leisure counseling programs appear to be very similar:

- to enchance self-awareness and self-understanding
- to identify personal attitudes, feelings, and values regarding leisure
- to develop or hone decision-making skills in regard to leisure
- to increase personal satisfaction in leisure activities
- to enhance enjoyment of living
- to acquaint individuals with availability of leisure activities and resources in their community
- to expand the personal range of interests and develop new leisure skills

The mode of delivery of leisure counseling services varies from a single individual counseling session to highly structured workshops lasting



from a half-day to 2-3 hours per week for a number of weeks. All program developers agree that for group counseling the number of members should not exceed fifteen if all are to receive individual attention and gain personal satisfaction from the experience. Times and frequency of individual or group sessions are at the discretion of the counselor and are based on client need and availability. Content in most programs includes interest and skill identification, decision-making activities, time studies, information about available resources, and some outside reading.

Client needs vary widely enough among the desired outcomes presented above that a beginning step in program development must be an attempt to determine what it is that a specific individual hopes to achieve from the counseling process. Once needs are identified, the counselor can proceed to design appropriate strategies to satisfy those needs. A major block for many individuals, and particularly older individuals who have been inculcated at an early age with the idea that play is nonessential, frivolous, and akin to "goofing off," is a negative attitude toward leisure, a devaluing and lack of understanding regarding the importance of leisure in the happy, fulfilled life. Values clarification exercises are therefore most appropriate in the beginning stages of the leisure counseling process. The book by Simon, Howe, and Kirschenbaum (1972), which offers 79 strategies to help individuals clarify their values, can be most helpful to counselors in this early stage of leisure counseling.

Some leisure counselors utilize various types of tests or questionnaires to ascertain client interests; others depend on personal interviews
with each client to determine individual preferences; still others bring
out this information through group counseling sessions. Counselors will
want to choose specific instruments with care and use them sparingly, as
in any other counseling effort with adults. The tests used should be easy
to administer and score, with results clients are able to understand and
take away with them. Many tests are available now. Some good test sources
are the following:

Educational and Industrial Testing Service P. O. Box 7234, San Diego, CA 92107



59 6 £

The Psychological Corporation, Test Service Division 304 E. 45th Street, New York 10017

Science Research Associates, Inc. 259 East Erie Street, Chicago, IL 60611

A "must" for leisure counselors is to develop a portfolio of activities and referral information and to add to it continually as new materials become available. The resource file should contain comprehensive information on leisure opportunities and facilities in the community, as well as extensive information in the many areas relating to leisure such as hobbies, educational opportunities, cultural activities, entertainment, sports, religious groups, and sources for self-improvement experiences. Many national, state, and county sources of information also provide information or materials that will be useful to the counselor. The purpose, of course, is for counselors to be able to put their hands immediately on as many kinds of needed materials as possible without having to consult outside sources.

Leisure counseling is particularly enjoyable because leisure is for fun, and clients are seeking help in enriching a most pleasurable part of their lives. What counselors do is help them discover leisure time activities that will contribute to the development of their fullest potentials, to their self-understanding and personal growth, and ultimately to a more deeply satisfying total existence.

Counseling Activities

The strategies that follow are ones counselors can use to facilitate this process—with the caution that they should not be used haphazardly but should be thoughtfully adapted to individual counselor style, client need, and a sequenced program of activities leading to predetermined outcomes. For further information, readers may consult the Resources section of this monograph which contains an extensive list of reading material and program activities for leisure counselors.



<u>Imagining</u>

This activity is particularly appropriate for group counseling although it can be used in individual sessions. Clients often come to the counselor feeling hopelessly blocked so far as leisure ideas are concerned. They want to be engaged in leisure that is stimulating and rewarding but they can't break out of their current habits of thinking and acting during non-work time. The purpose of the imagining exercise is to loosen some of people's inhibitions to creative thinking. We suggest that this activity be used in the early stages of leisure counseling as a way of helping clients to expand their range of leisure choices.

With this clarified information about what brings them pleasure or makes an experience very satisfying for them, they then close their eyes again and imagine an experience they would <u>like</u> to have. In their imagining they are to set no limits—anything goes. They should really try to get into the fantasy experience and live it through their minus. After they have done this, they again share their ideas with each other in the small groups.

All group members now come together and volunteer personal insights they may have gained about what brings them reward and satisfaction, as well as new ideas that came to them from hearing of others' experiences.



In the final part of the activity, participants write down important words or phrases about their personal criteria for achieving satisfaction and pleasure. This list then becomes a reference point as they begin to make choices about new or expanded leisure opportunities.



Constructive Leisure Activity Survey #1*

We have mentioned the use of tests and surveys in leisure counseling. While we believe that they should be used sparingly with adults, they do have their place; and in brief form such instruments can be very valuable in helping clients acquire new ideas and vitalize their thinking about ways to spend leisure time.

Constructive Leisure, a consulting, counseling, and programming firm in Los Angeles, has developed a survey which contains more than 250 ideas for leisure activities classified under five general headings: physical and outdoor activities, social activities and personal satisfaction, arts and craftsmanship, learning, and general welfare. Participants complete the survey by checking one of three columns after each activity: "Tried activity and like it," "Would like to try it," and "No interest at present." Constructive Leisure provides detailed instructions to counselors on how to score the instrument. We would suggest an alternative approach of having each participant do his/her own scoring so as to promote a feeling of ownership in and commitment to the results. (This would also free the counselor to provide assistance for those who might need it.)

Because the list is so exhaustive and well-constructed, we are not attempting to re-invent the wheel by creating one ourselves. We urge counselors who would care to use this instrument to write to the firm at 511 No. La Cienega Blvd., Los Angeles, CA 90048, for information and cost.



^{*}This form is copyrighted.

Resource Resourcefulness

This group activity builds on the shared knowledge of participants regarding sources of leisure information in their community. Every participant ill be knowledgeable about some leisure facility or some potential leisure outlet within accessible range that might be of interest to other group members. The key is to bring all of this information together into a form usable by group members as they attempt to implement some of their choices.

Have the participants form groups of five or six and furnish each small group with a telephone book, two or three sheets of newsprint, and a marking pen. Then ask them first to brainstorm together as many leisure facilities as they can think of in their community—as many volunteer organizations, leisure time-oriented classes in some nearby educational institution, sites for outdoor activities, gyms, bowling alleys, groups, clubs, and so on. Within a few minutes each group should come up with a fairly extensive list. When they run out of member-generated resources, they can consult the yellow pages of the telephone book for further ideas. When all the newsprint sheets are collected, ask for volunteers to organize and classify the information; then arrange to have it typed up and duplicated for each person. Each member thus ends up with a comprehensive list of resources that represents the thinking of a large number of adults.

We sometimes like to add spice to the activity by making it a competition between groups. The group with the most resources listed in a predetermined amount of time wins a cupcake (or something).

At the conclusion of the activity group members are usually astonished at how many resources are available, how many really interesting things there are to do right in their own setting.

Following the three activities listed here (and others of the counselor's own choosing), participants will be engaged in combining information about themselves with all of the other information they have received and be ready to make decisions about expanding and enhancing their leisure time activities.



₅₄ 63

PERSPECTIVES ON ADULT DEVELOPMENT AND ADULT COUNSELING

When a much longed-for goal is achieved . . . the glow fades, and we begin to launch fresh plans, to set fresh goals. And as we look hack, we see that much of what now appears to us as appiness lay in the struggle . . . It is for this reason that men sail boats, climb mountains and take on other challenges, including intellectual ones. (Taylor, 1973, p. 22)

Cestalt is a German word for a total greater than the sum of all the parts. In three years of examining and researching adult counseling and questioning adult counselors, we have developed our own gestalt—a special perspective borne of countless obsevations and myriad inferences regarding the meaning of what we have seen. We cannot trace our perspective to clearly identifiable or logical deductions from these experiences. Rather, our conclusions take the form of cognitive leaps, "aha" insights that have emerged with such potency that we make the leaps confidently even though we are unsure of where we will land. Our inner being tells us that we had to go through all of this experiencing, thinking, and synthesizing before we could reach this point: We are prepared now to say, "This is what we believe; these are things we must attend to; future progress will come from our resolving these issues."

The generalizations to follow distill the essence of our thought and experience regarding both adult development and adult counseling and expand avenues to new ventures. Before we explore new pathways, however, we wish to leave to others a map that reveals our progress so far. Hopefully, our learnings will stimulate others to map their own journey into adult counseling, either to confirm what we have charted or to suggest compass headings that illuminate adult development more than ours do. Whatever we leave is meant to stimulate adventure and discovery rather than define firm principles—we wish to guide, not direct or command.

Professional Pat-ism

Recently we were engaged in a discussion about effective counseling approaches with several different helping specialists—nurses, educators, social workers, counselors. In very eloquent terms, one young woman decried the rigidity apparent in some of the helping professionals that she had observed in her work as a nurse. It appeared that they had learned the stages people experience in reaction to death and dying and were quick to place a client in a particular stage and to explain all of the client's behavior on that basis. In her words, this simplistic and often insensitive diagnosis by the helper led to a mechanistic, non-caring response that frequently infuriated rather than helped the client. The value of the classification scheme was quite obviously for the helper, not the helpee.

In working with adult counselors of many different backgrounds, we have found this to be all too valid an observation. Whether the focus of the counseling be grief, divorce, leisure, or career development, a strong pull appears to exist, especially for inexperienced counselors, to resort to professional pat-ism, to label or categorize a person's current state of development or behavior as a way of demonstrating their professional competence. Diagnosis and classification in the helping services has a speckled past, with countless reams of literature devoted to categorizing human behavior. We have been reasonably successful in showing the relationship between the placement of an individual in a given classification and an effective counseling strategy. Counseling is very different from a field like medicine where there is a relatively clear-cut relationship between a diagnostic category and the appropriate treatment.

It is not so many years since Leona Tyler recommended that counselors ignore test results and other diagnostic information before meeting a client for the first time, stating that knowledge of such data tended to influence the judgments a counselor would make about an individual before the interview. Development of classifications of adult behavior



and models of adult development is still in its infancy. Such attempts at categorization certainly help us to gain a better understanding of the broad sweep of human development and to identify predictable stages in adulthood. Unfortunately, if we adhere to a model too closely in responding to an individual client, we may become blinded to the person's individuality.

Counseling implications. The implications of this problem seem quite clear. We should encourage counselors to broaden and deepen their knowledge of adult development and to learn as much as possible about how most adults react to and deal with predictable transitions or major events in their lives. This will provide a more comprehensive understanding of adulthood in general. Under all circumstances, however, counselors should give precedence to the unique characteristics of the person. We greatly distor the use of the information if we seek to bend an individual's behavior to fit a certain stage or sequence.

Developmental models and stage classifications are useful floodlights; they illuminate the area--but illumination is not understanding. True helping can only occur when intelligent, trained counselors use their knowledge and insights to come to understand clients better and from that understanding develop individualized helping interventions.

Becoming Stronger But Feeling Less Sure

"I've never felt more on top of things in my whole life, more able to come to grips with anything that may happen—but I don't tell that to other people because if I do, they just smile and look at me condescendingly." We heard this comment recently from a man in his early 60's. He was describing an experience that occurs to many adults past midlife. What this man and his peers are communicating is a growing sense of personal competency and power but a feeling of less appreciation on the part of others, particularly the young. Some of the middle-aged and elderly are able to deal relatively well with this personal/other dichotomy regarding their abilities and worth. Many, however, take their cue from what they perceive to be the views of others. They begin



to think less of themselves, to feel less worthy as individuals, and experience great inner turmoil from this lack of societal support. Once started, this lessening of a sense of self-worth becomes a pervasive process whereby withdrawal and uncertainty substitute for what used to be quite the opposite kinds of behaviors, and adults become fearful of taking on responsibilities and challenges.

Counseling implications. Nothing is likely to have a more pervasive and negative effect on adults as they grow older than a feeling of decreasing self-worth and self-esteem. At a time when individuals are in a position to exercise their skills and their interests through choice, they experience a generalized discouragement. We think it absolutely essential that counselors help adult clients to understand the developmental aging process and to find avenues by which they can demonstrate their own particular skills and competencies. Left to their own resources, some adults will enter into a gradual decline in which they attempt less, and think less of themselves for doing so, until in their own minds they are as helpless and worthless as the societal stereotype would have them be. Counselors need to design creative experiences that will help such individuals to become newly aware of their personal worth and to plan for a broad array of experiences in life that will reinforce and maintain their self-esteem. Lacking adequate self-esteem, it is very unlikely that adults will find much meaning in anything else that the counselor attempts to do.

Undue Reliance on the Tried and True

"Personal obsolescence is the greatest problem we face," a Human Resources Development manager told us recently. He was referring to the fact that his company could replace outmoded machines with relative ease, and that his real problem was employees who were stagnated, who continued to rely on the knowledge base and skills developed years ago. While this HRD manager was speaking of a condition all too prevalent in the business world, the same comment can be made about adult clients in general.



Patterns of friendship and interpersonal relationships, methods of personal management, and approaches to learning are frequently practiced again and again in the way that they were first learned. Clearly, adults would rather stay with time-worn and familiar patterns of behavior than seek to develop new skills and responses appropriate to new conditions. This attitude is particularly true of individuals who have undergone a major life transition--change in career, loss of a spouse, or an unsettling geographical move.

Counseling implications. What makes life enjoyable for most of us is possession of a repertoire of finely-honed skills. We use these skills every day--on the job, in our relationships with people, at home, in things we do for pleasure. Part of our verve depends upon our exercising these skills in a way that brings personal satisfaction. But to keep both our job skills and our life skills refreshed and revitalized, we must be committed to personal renewal. Counselors need to help adults find ways of renewing themselves through objective-oriented learning experiences. Casual reading and informal pursuance of interests are helpful, but they are not enough. All adults should view learning as a lifelong opportunity and responsibility, and should give serious and continuing attention to updating and acquiring new skills that will bring them feelings of satisfaction and reward.

Learning Life Skills a Priority

We typically distinguish between two types of human skills: (a) technical skills, i.e., those an individual needs to perform effectively in a technical capacity such as mathematical ability for an engineer and knowledge of grammar for a writer; and (b) life skills, i.e., those skills needed to cope adequately with a wide variety of life situations, such as decision-making, problem-solving, conflict resolution, stress management, use of time. Research has clearly shown the importance of life skills to a person's general well-being and occupational success. Yet, interestingly enough, acquisition of life skills is seldom a



subject of concentrated study or instruction. Even individuals who occupy very responsible positions may be deficient in these areas. Lack of well-developed life skills can plague people throughout their lives and deprive them of occupational advancement and personal fulfillment.

<u>Counseling implications</u>. Some counselors have wanted to limit their work to intensive individual counseling, viewing skill-oriented areas such as decision-making, new learning approaches, and life planning as "guidance topics" best left to guidance specialists. Unfortunately, it is this very attitude of focusing on emotional ills rather than developmental skills which has "turned off" some adults in their encounters with counselors.

Many adults are looking for a flexible, resourceful counselor who can assist them in acquiring needed information or learning specific competencies—a "one-stop" service, if you will, whereby one counselor offers assistance in all areas of need. To be worthy of the name, adult counselors need to be broad-based. Counselors who have prepared themselves in the field of life skills find that they operate as facilitators of client learning, helping to clarify objectives, identify resources, review progress. Satisfaction with such skill learning often leads clients to seek more extended relationships with counselors involving other facets of their lives.

An excellent resource to help counselors gain knowledge and expertise in life skills is the set of competency-based staff development modules developed by a consortium of university and state departments in association with the American Institutes for Research under contract with the former Office of Education. Covering 52 different topics, each of these modules contains six to eight hours of performance-based training and can be facilitated by a consultant or by a group of counselors themselves. The Counselor Renewal System, developed by the ERIC Counseling and Personnel Services Clearinghouse, is another inexpensive, comprehensive, and essentially self-instructional package that assists counselors to upgrade their skills in high priority areas, including life skills.

Creative Intervention

We have noted a distinct tendency for adult counselors to adopt a specific approach and to refine it with time and experience, thus becoming very good at some aspects of adult counseling but not at all familiar with others. It is certainly appropriate for counselors to have an area of specialization and to build on their strengths; but we should always remember that effective adult counseling necessitates a broad rather than a narrow range of counseling skills. Participation in some adult groups, e.g., divorce or spouse abuse, that include intimate discussions of their experiences often causes clients to abstain from further group meetings unless the counselor is one who is aware of and skilled in the use of a wide variety of counseling interventions and whose choice of approach is influenced by client need.

Counseling implications. Perhaps more than for any other type of professional helper, adult counselors need continually to expand their repertoire of counseling skills. It is imperative that a sizable portion (10 to 20 percent) of their time be earmarked for renewal and upgrading activities that enable them to learn and grow professionally. Otherwise they become relatively narrow specialists whose skills are soon outgrown and whose services are no longer adequate for the needs of their clients.

Creating a Support Network

If adults are asked how they have weathered difficult times, invariably they will mention the influence of a person or persons. And if the conversation continues long enough, they will probably reveal that different people played a supportive role at different times for different stressful events. The implication seems clear. The most helpful resource in times of personal difficulty or stress is another person, and who that person is depends on the nature of the problem. The availability of needed support seems to occur as much by chance as by conscious design. Viewed from a larger perspective, what many people create in an informal



and unplanned way is a support network, and the potency of the network is dependent upon the breadth of expertise possessed by the persons who furnish support.

A support person performs several distinct functions. One is certainly a very deep communication of caring and concern that goes beyond mere familiarity or generalized interest—a willingness to "put it on the line" for the individual who is experiencing a problem. The second avenue of assistance is knowledgeability about areas relevant to another's needs and the desire to share that knowledge or expertise. Third, successful supporters seem to be people who are themselves strong and self-directing, whose desire and ability to reach out stems from a humanistic and caring concern rather than a need to induce dependency or a psychological debt on the part of another. Typically, people in support networks gain considerable personal satisfaction from helping others, and the relationship is mutually beneficial, both to the helper and to the person in need.

Counseling implications. It is unlikely that adult counselors are in a position to serve as major members of people's support structures. Certainly they will play a vital role for some individuals at a particular time for a particular problem. More appropriately, however, they can help adults to recognize the need for a support network and to select members for it. If adult counselors themselves have utilized a support group and are conscious of the importance of networking, first-hand knowledge of the experience can be valuable in assisting others to form such a network. This is an unusual role for counselors, but one that can have both immediate and lasting benefit for their clients.

Imaging High Potential Areas

In times of transition, we frequently find ourselves facing a stark new reality and question our ability to cope with change: What will I do? What will it be like? How can I possibly . . .? A major reason for such uncertainty is our inability to gain a viable image of ourselves in



a new situation. "Is there any way to know what it will be like for me before I actually get into it?" is a question frequently asked of counselors. People wish to be assured of the likelihood of success and personal satisfaction regarding alternative courses of action before they embark on them.

A new and interesting approach is the assessment center, where individuals are called upon to demonstrate their skills in a large number of areas. Their performance profiles are then compared with those of people who have been successful in different occupations. Individuals thus acquire knowledge about their ability to manage some of the basic functions of a given occupation as well as their current level of development across a wide spectrum of life skills. Such information can help to corroborate the desirability of tentative plans and decisions. It can also open up new self-images and make people aware of potentialities they had not considered because of lack of direct experience.

Counseling implications. Though in its infancy, the life skills assessment movement is one that offers people the opportunity to measure their present performance and then, with a counselor, to examine the applications and implications of the data. Because the assessment process focuses on present skill levels, it provides a concrete base for identifying new and needed areas of specialized training. Knowing of a potential(s) can strongly motivate a person to do whatever is necessary to translate the image into reality. To make greater use of this promising innovation, counselors themselves need to experience it personally. They need to learn all they can about the assessment process and the kind of data produced, which are both quantitatively and qualitatively different from data obtained from usual testing devices. The assessment center method is not competitive with counseling; rather, it is another counseling method representing a particularly powerful source of self-knowledge and motivation that can be of great help to clients in making appropriate life plans.



Managing Transitions

To many adults change is something to be gotten over with. Like a particularly troublesome time in lif2--acne in adolescence or finding one's first job--change is temporary and one can look to a very different state of affairs once a few difficulties have been resolved. In truth, nowever, we seldom experience a time without change and flux. Achieving a constant equilibrium is an illusory goal which, if chased, will only recede into the distance.

Adult counselors often deal with clients who have been unsuccessful in either developing a generalized strategy for dealing with change or coping with a particular kind of transition. Adults should develop the mind-sense that change and transition are continuing and inevitable and that preparing themselves to cope effectively with transitions can make life smoother and more rewarding. Transitions are comprised of both crises and opportunities, and the wise person is one who can maximize the opportunities while minimizing the crises.

Counseling implications. Our experience would suggest that people can best manage difficult transitions by first realizing that they are now experiencing or are about to experience a major change, and second, preparing themselves for it. Prehaps nothing is so helpful to a person as anticipating what the difficult aspects of a transition will be and then imaging and even practicing alternative behaviors required by the change. This enables people not only to manage transitions more effectively but also to acquire more confidence in their general coping skills.

As adult counselors, we can assist individuals to assess more accurately the transitions they are likely to experience, the probable sequence in which they will occur, and the most meaningful and effective actions each individual can take. A particularly useful counselor strategy is to have the adult client develop a kind of profile of his or her typical methods of handling change and transition. This profile



can be a source of valuable discussion regarding the client's natural inclination and disposition toward change, and development of more personmanaged and goal-directed behavior.

Building Self-Esteem

All of us seek approval and evidence that we are worthy people. Self-esteem is more like an orchid than a dandelion, sensitive to subtle nuances in the emotional climate and very easily crunched underfoot by unknowing or insensitive people. Some adults have such a poor self-image that they do not feel worthy enough to seek counseling, or that counseling can help anyone as unimportant as they are. People for whom transitions such as divorce, retirement, or unplanned or unwanted career change are particularly traumatic feel especially vulnerable. Irrational beliefs such as "I must be loved by everyone," "I have to be perfect," or "I must do all things well" exist in all of us at one time or another. Trying times bring such self-defeating assertions to the surface, with devastating damage to our egos. By the very act of seeking counseling assistance, some adults feel that they have publicly admitted to inadequacy or incompetence. "If I were really strong," their self-talk suggests, "I would never need a counselor." In such a climate, it is difficult for meaningful counseling to occur.

Counseling implications. The counselor's initial task must be to help clients dispel their self-doubts and uncertainties regarding their personal worth. Adult counselors must be very sensitive to the self-references and self-perceptions that clients bring to the interview. A well-tuned ear will help the counselor to know whether an individual is ready to move into action planning or to receive specific information. Some clients may need to devote time to analyzing their feelings about themselves and considering to what extent these thoughts are the product of unrealistic expectations and/or irrational beliefs. Expressing their feelings about self and the way they have handled previous life experiences can help clients to identify negative self-talk and to develop more



50

1.1

healthy and appropriate responses. Counselor technique in these situations is not nearly as important as genuine caring for the client and commitment to helping the client to find ways of overcoming persisting feelings of unworthiness.

Life Planning

Historians tell us that we can only know the present by knowing and understanding the past. The pragmatist would have us believe that time devoted to anything other than the present is likely to be wasted. The futurist finds importance residing mainly in images of what lies ahead. Theorists all espouse their own part of the whole, and to the extent that they speak for their own bent, they are right. In human terms, we can know ourselves and the options before us only by understanding the past, present, and future, and the relationships among the three. The goal, of course, is to develop a future plan which blends the interaction of what is and what has been with what can be.

All of us, consciously or not, must make decisions about the future we wish to have. In so doing, we need to consider possible, probable, and preferred futures. Possible futures encompass all that we imagine can conceivably occur, an almost limitless array of potential lifestyles and outcomes. Imaging probable futures begins the narrowing process and identifies from among the possible futures those which we believe have the greatest chance of becoming real. Our personal choice from among the probable futures then becomes our preferred future, the future that we would most like to experience.

Different perspectives on our lives--past, present, and future-intermingle randomly in our thoughts. Sometimes consciously, sometimes
unconsciously, we are influenced more by one than another. But rarely
do we give consistent thought to the implications of each for what we do
and what we strive for. Engaging in life planning helps individuals in
a conscious and systematic way to review their lives and to put into
action terms what they would like the future to be. Given direction,



whatever it is that brings dignity and meaning to life is more likely to be realized. Life planning is also likely to maximize life experiences that hold the greatest personal reward and minimize those that are hurtful to the self and others. Left to happenstance and exigencies of the moment, goals remain only unrealized dreams. Assuming conscious responsibility for clarifying goals and values and making studied decisions which then undergird a major life plan brings a sense of fulfillment and achievement. For all its rewards, however, very few of us either know how or choose to engage in life planning. The counselor can help clients to realize the importance of life planning and to acquire the know-how to master it.

Counseling implications. Life planning has become the subject of innumerable self-growth paperbacks. Their very quantity is testimony to the adult need for assistance in this area, even though many resist becoming involved. Once into the process, however, we have observed that most adults find life planning to be very rewarding, wish they had done it earlier, and make sincere attempts to incorporate it into their daily living. Life planning lends itself well to small, informal seminars in which the counselor acts more as facilitator than as teacher or counselor. Some of the instruments presented in this volume can be very useful in these seminars. We suggest a several-step process beginning with (a) generation of self-data, perhaps using some of the suggested activities; (b) analysis of the data from self-report or assessment instruments in which individuals develop inferences and generalizations about themselves; and (c) a decision-making and actionplanning stage in which individuals set goals and design specific, concrete action steps for achieving what they aspire to.

Negotiating Differences

"We just couldn't get it together. We respect and like each other a lot, but we were so far apart on that issue that we never could work it out." Such a comment illustrates a problem of immense magnitude for adults in all walks of life because it reaches into the heart of



relationships with spouse or significant others, with colleagues at work, and with friends. Especially in adulthood, when rates of development, interests, and values vary so widely, people may find that the differences between them have become so large that they are unable to continue their relationship. Oftentimes such differences are borne of some major transition—career change, change in family structure, retirement. Sometimes the conflict has been aggravated by inappropriate use of assertiveness training which leads people to put forth aggressively their own ideas and needs and ignore those of others. If two people are bent upon asserting their own rights and needs, escalation of the conflict is inevitable.

Basic to this whole dimension of interpersonal relationships is the way we deal with conflict, the way we negotiate our differences. Differences between two persons can loom as insuperable obstacles. Both persons may feel that they are right, with neither being prepared to give an inch. If one person is successful in convincing the other that his or her point of view is correct, the other may be left with such a residual hostility that the relationship is soured for a time, if not indefinitely. Being wary of the possibility of alienating others in trying to resolve differences, some people seek to gloss them over. To grin and bear it or try to ignore the difference is a very common way of handling conflict, but active suppression serves no end other than to bury the discord temporarily. Usually the problem than the disagreement would seem to warrant.

Competence in negotiating differences is assuming increasing importance in all aspects of life. Research on human performance in business and industry eveals that one of the greatest persisting difficulties in management is the inability of managers and employees to negotiate an agreed-upon level of performance to the end that both parties will have similar expectations. In marriage and other significant interpersonal relationships, small differences or seemingly trivial acts can wound deeply and result in emotional fissures which seemingly defy resolution.



Counseling implications. Traditionally counselors working in this area have devoted much time to analyzing with a client the significant emotional clash and helping the person to develop a way of dealing with it. Currently, adult counselors are being more proactive. They still attempt to minimize the emotion and conflict but at the same time help clients to develop a more responsible and problem-solving approach to conflict resolution.

It has been said that it is possible to negotiate anything. Implicit in this statement is the idea that a skillful negotiator can manipulate a situation to his or her advantage. This approach emphasizes the key ingredients of time, information, and power--having enough time to negotiate, being completely and totally imformed on the issue under negotiation, and creating a position of power within the negotiations by one's actions. For all of the obvious benefits of such a strategy, a more appropriate counseling approach is to encourage the warring parties to identify those elements in the conflict that are most important to them. Then the goal is to try to come to consensus wherein each party achieves as many of his/her essential priorities as possible--realizing that in all likelihood neither will be able to achieve all that is desired. The result is typically a solution that both parties can live with, even though it may not represent everything that each person would have wanted, a "win-win" situation in which nobody loses.

This brief explanation of negotiation is not intended to suggest that the process is either simple or always successful. Counselors need to be very knowledgeable and informed regarding negotiation and conflict resolution strategies. Helping clients to develop more effective ways of coping with conflict and of negotiation may signal a departure from the traditional, "laid-back," reflective counselor style, but active and successful involvement in this process may be one of the greatest contributions a counselor can make to the life of another adult.

THE SUMMING UP AND THE NEW BEGINNING

After an arduous building task, people like to step back and observe their creation, experiencing pleasure in having finished the task, thinking how they might have done it differently, and feeling satisfied with what they have been able to achieve. That's how we feel as we come to the end of our project on adult counseling. Three "gutlevel" generalizations come to mind regarding what we have learned from the entire experience. We offer them at the end with the hope that they will really be a beginning, a stimulus to others to take stock of their own beliefs about adult counseling.

Humanism before professionalism. To be called "professional" is one of the highest accolades a performer can receive. A professional is thoroughly competent, consistently reliable, and at the top level of expertise. Adult counselors strive to be professional, and surely that is an admirable goal. But more important, we believe, is a spontaneous and genuine humanism. The truly reaching out, caring human response has a therapeutic effect that far transcends sheer professionalism. Wide knowledge, expert technique, and research-oriented methodologies gain us status among our colleagues, but their impact on adults is questionable. As counselors we face the special challenge of trying to overcome all that would prevent one human being from reaching out to another and assisting the other to be more the person he or she wants to be. We are responsible for our own thoughts and actions, and let us never say that our professionalism kept us from being a person, the friend that another human being sought in a time of need.

<u>Substantive eclecticism</u>. A dazzling array of counseling and therapeutic approaches is available to the adult counselor of today. In practice, most of us find a method or two that suits us and settle into a comfortable routine. This identification and continual refinement of



approaches that we feel are appropriate is an important source of professional improvement. But until we clearly explicate what we do and observe ourselves through our third eye, we are not likely to develop into the highly skilled craftpersons required by our profession. Opportunism or latching on to any flighty choice that is currently the fad is to be totally condemned. But there is a higher level of eclecticism, a judicious picking and choosing of methods of healing, that will extend our power and enhance our capacity to respond to each unique adult as a total person. Selective examining and questioning, and a constant search for assurance that our methods are substantive, should be a basic norm of our behavior. We must be ever renewing of our skills, reaching out to find new avenues of responding to a troubled human condition. There must exist within us a restlessness, a dissatisfaction with what we do, and a gnawing demand to grow and become more than we now are. If we combine our conceptual knowledge with the insights that come to us from our daily practice, we will be able to develop a personalized counseling synergism that will enhance our ability to be therapeutic and helping tools for serving others.

Adult counseling has long existed in the wings of the theater of adult life, awaiting its call for a major performance on the human stage. Limited resources, fuzzy conceptualization, and a sparse knowledge base have all acted to limit the spread and the effectiveness of adult counseling. As we write this in the beginning of 1982, it appears that the support base for adult education in general and adult counseling in particular will at best experience a creeping erosion during the next decade. And at worst, adult counseling, along with all of the human services, will undergo drastic reductions, with only a skeleton of the movement remaining. With either scenario, it behooves us to redirect our thinking from an expansionist viewpoint to a more judicious focus on priorities. We must emphasize counselor functions which, devoid of frills and nonessentials, can continue to impact with potency upon adult clients.



We believe that the most critical function of contemporary adult counselors is to be a catalytic force in the lives of clients. Theirs is the unique role of both directing and fueling the latent forces for personal enhancement present within each individual. The adult experience for many is rife with frustration, conflict, and self-negation, forces that limit growth and movement. The counselor must become a partner with the adult client in the quest to release internal counteracting growth forces which negative experiences have strapped. Together the counselor and client can sculpt a future image which dramatizes opportunities, clarifies risks, and emboldens action. If counselors cannot always be physically at the side of the client on this journey into self, they nonetheless, by their commitment and caring, enter into the individual's life space. The adult experience then becomes one of personal enhancement because the client and counselor have together mobilized the best within the individual to unleash internal forces for growth and build behaviors for overcoming external barriers. In the quest for an enhanced life experience, the counselor as partner is a vital client force for belief in self, incisive decision-making, and bold action.



RESOURCES



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Divorce Counseling

- American Personnel and Guidance Association (Producer). Divorce: Fart one. Washington, DC, 1976. (Film)
- Atkin, E., & Rubin, E. Part-time father: A guide for the divorced father. New York: Vanguard Press, 1976.
- Atkinson, B., & Ogston, D. The effect of father absence on male children in the home and school. *Journal of School Psychology*, 1974, 12(3), 213-221.
- Bach, G. R. Creative exits: Fight-therapy for divorcees. In V. Franks & V. Burtle (Eds.), Women in therapy: New psychotherapies for a changing society. New York: Brunner/Mazel, 1974.
- Baer, J. The second wife. New York: Doubleday, 1972.
- Baguedor, E. Separation. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1972.
- Bane, M. J. Marital disruption and the lives of children. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 102-117.
- Bardwick, J. M. (Ed.). Psychology of women. New York: Harper and Row, 1972.
- Barrett, R. K. The relationship of emotional disorder to marital maladjustment and disruption. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1974, 34(9-8), 4651-4652.
- Barringer, K. D. Self-perception of the quality of adjustment of single parents in divorce participating in parents without partners organizations. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1974, 34(7-A), 4446-4447.
- Baskin, H., & Kiel-Friedman, S. I've had it, you've had it, advice on divorce from a lawyer and a psychologist. New York: Nash, 1973.
- Bernard, J. No news, but new iteas. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), Divorce and after. New York: Doubleday Anchor, 1971.
- Bernard, J. The future of marriage. New York: Bantam Books, 1972.



- Berry, B. Religion and divorce: Issues and trends. Marriage, Divorce, and the Family Newsletter. (Presented at a panel at the National Council on Family Relations, Annual Meeting, New York City, Oct. 23, 1976.)
- Bertocci, P. A. The partners that cannot be divorced: Psychology and philosophy. Psychologia: An International Journal of Psychology in the Orient, 1971, 14(10), 148-152.
- Biller, H. B. Paternal deprivation. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, 1974.
- Biller, H. B., & Meredith, D. Father power. New York: Doubleday Anchor, 1975.
- Bird, C. Everything a woman needs to know to get paid what she's worth.

 New York: David McKay Co., 1973.
- Blanchard, R., & Biller, H. Father availability and academic performance among third-grade boys. Developmental Psychology, 1971, 4(3), 301-305.
- Bohannan, P. (Ed.). Divorce and after: An analysis of the emotional and social problems of divorce. New York: Doubleday Anchor, 1971.
- Bowlby, J. Separation: Anxiety and anger. New York: Basic Books, Inc., 1973.
- Branded or barefaced. Time: Special Bicentermial Issue, September 26, 1976, p. 61.
- Briscoe, C. W., & Smith, J. B. Depression and marital turmoil. Archives of General Psychiatry, 1973, 29(6), 811-817.
- Briscoe, C. W., & Smith, J. B. Psychiatric illness, marital units and divorce. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 1974, 158(6), 440-445.
- Briscoe, C. W., & Smith, J. B. Depression in bereavement and divorce.

 Relationship to primary depressive illness. A study of 128 subjects. Archives of General Psychiatry, 1975, 32(4), 439-443.
- Briscoe, C. W., & Smith, J. B. Divorce and psychiatric disease.

 Archives of General Psychiatry, 1973, 29(1), 119-125.
- Brothers, J. Brothers' system for liberated love and marriage. New York: P. H. Wyden, 1972.



- Brown, H. How I found freedom in an unfree world. New York: Avon, 1974.
- Burch, E. S., Jr. Marriage and divorce among the North Alaskan Eskimos. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), *Divorce and after*. New York: Anchor Books, 1971.
- Burlage, D. A preliminary review of research and selected bibliography related to separated and divorced mothers. Boston, MA: Harvard Medical School, Lab. of Community Psychiatry, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (HEW), June 1976. Report No. ASPE-76-039.
- Cammer, L. Up from depression. New York: Pocket Books, 1971.
- Cantor, D. J. Escape from marriage: How to solve the problems of divorce. New York: William Morrow and Company, Inc., 1971.
- Carlier, A. Marriage in the United States. New York: Arno Press, 1972.
- Carter, H. Eight myths about divorce--and the facts. In M. Merbaum & S. George (Eds.), Search for human understanding: A reader in psychology. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, Inc., 1971.
- Carter, H., & Glick, P. Marriage and divorce: A social and economic study. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1976.
- Chester, R., & Streather, J. Cruelty in English divorce: Some empirical findings. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1972, 34(4), 706-712.
- Cline, D. W., & Westman, J. C. The impact of divorce on the family. Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 1971, 2(2), 78-83.
- Crook, R. H. An open book to the Christian divorcee. Nashville, TN: Broadman Press, 1974.
- Crumley, F. E., & Blumenthal, R. S. Children's reactions to temporary loss of the father. American Journal of Psychiatry, 1973, 130(7), 778-782.
- Cull, J. G., & Hardy, R. E. Deciding on divorce: Personal and family sorriderations. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1974.
- Cutright, P. Income and family events: Marital stability. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1971, 33(2), 291-306.
- Danziger, C., & Greenwald, M. Alternatives: A look at unmarried couples and communes. New York: Institute of Life Insurance, Research Services, 1973.

- Davis, W. (Ed.). The best from the single parent. Washington, DC: Parents Without Partners, 1973.
- DeFazio, V. J., & Klenbort, I. A note on the dynamics of psychotherapy during marital dissolution. Psychotherapy Theory, Research and Practice, 1975, 12(1), 101-104.
- Derdeyn, A. P. A consideration of legal issues in child custody contests.

 Archives of General Psychiatry, 1976, 33(2), 165-171.
- Divorce, California style: It's easier now and less painful. Los Angeles Times, March 6, 1972.
- Doherty, D. Divorce and remarriage: Resolving a Catholic dilemma. St. Meinrad, IN: Abbey Press, 1974.
- Doppler, G. America needs total divorce reform, now! Broomall, PA: U. S. Divorce Reform, Inc., 1973.
- Eckhardt, K. Deviance, visibility, and legal action: The duty to support. Social Problems, 1968, 15(4), 470-477.
- Eddy, R. L., III. What you should know about marriage, divorce, annulment, separation and community property in Louisiana.

 New York: Exposition Press, 1974.
- Elkin, M. Conciliation courts: The reintegration of disintegrating families. The Family Coordinator, 1973, 22(1), 63-71.
- Ellis, A., & Harper, R. A guide to rational living. No. Hollywood, CA: Wilshire Book Co., 1973.
- Epstein, J. Divorced in America: Marriage in an age of possibility.

 New York: Penguin, 1974.
- Farber, B. Marriage and divorce. Family and kinship in modern society. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman, 1973.
- Fassier, J. Children's literature and early childhood separation experiences. Young Children, 1974, 29(5), 311-323.
- Feldberg, R., Fox, E. M., & Kohen, J. Divorce: Chance of a new lifetime. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 119-134.
- Feldberg, R., & kohen, J. Family life in an anti-family setting.

 The Family Coordinator, 1976, 25(2), 151-159.



- Felder, R. L. Divorce. New York: World Publishing Co., 1971.
- Felner, R. D., Stolberg, A., & Corven, E. L. Crisis events and school mental health referral patterns of young children. Journal of Counseling and Clinical Psychology, 1975, 43, 305-310.
- Fenelon, B. State variations in the United States divorce rates.

 Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1971, 33(2), 321-327.
- Ferriss, A. Indicators of change in American family. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1970.
- Fisher, E. O. A guide to divorce counseling. The Family Coordinator, 1973, 22(1), 55-61.
- Fisher, E. O. Divorce counseling and values. Journal of Religion and Health, 1975, 14(4), 265-270.
- Fisher, E. O. Divorce: The new freedom. New York: Harper and Row, 1974.
- Flanagan, W. Plain talk about divorce. New York Magazine, Aug. 9, 1976, p. 59.
- Foa, U. G., & Donnenwerth, G. V. Love poverty in modern culture and sensitivity training. *Sociological Inquiry*, 1974, 41(2), 149-159.
- Frohlich, N. Making the best of it: A common sense guide to negotiating a divorce. New York: Harper and Row, 1971.
- Fromm, E. The anatomy of human destructiveness. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston, 1973.
- Fuller, J. The scrapbook of my divorce. New York: Arthur Fields Books, 1973.
- Fullerton, G. P. Survival in marriage. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston, 1972.
- Furstenberg, F. F., Jr. Premarital pregnancy and marital instability. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 67-86.
- Gardner, R. A. The boy's and girl's book about divorce. New York:
 Bantam Books, 1971.
- Gardner, R. A. Psychological aspects of divorce. In S. Arieti (Ed.), American handbook of psychiatry. New York: Basic Books, 1974.



- Gebhard, P. Postmarital coitus among widows and divorcees. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), Divorce and after. New York: Anchor Books, 1971.
- Gettleman, S., & Markowitz, J. The courage to divorce. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1974.
- Gilder, G. F. Naked nomads: Unmarried men in America. New York:
 New York Times Book Co., 1974.
- Gittleman-Klein, R. Pharmacotherapy and management of pathological separation anxiety. International Journal of Mental Health, 1975, 4(1-2), 255-271.
- Glasser, P. H., & Glasser, L. N. Families in crisis. New York: Harper and Row, 1976.
- Glick, P. C. A demographer looks at American families. *Journal Marriage and the Family*, 1975, 37(1), 15-26.
- Glick, P. C., & Norton, A. J. Frequency, duration and probability of marriage and divorce. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 1971, 33(2), 307-317.
- Goldfried, M. R., & Merbaum, M. Behavior changes through self-control. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1973:
- Goode, W. J. Marital satisfaction and instability. A cross-cultural analysis of divorce rates. In P. H. Glasser & L. N. Glasser (Eds.), Families in crisis. New York: Harper and Row, 1976.
- Gordon, M. The nuclear family in crisis: The search for an alternative.

 New York: Harper and Row, 1972.
- Gordon, S. Lonely in America. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1976.
- Gordon, T. Farent effectiveness training. New York: Peter Wyden, 1971.
- Greene, R. 'Til divorce do you part. Pittsburg, PA: Know, Inc., 1972.
- Grollman, E. Talking about divorce. Boston: Beacon Press, 1975.
- Group living catches on and goes middle class. U. S. News and World Report, February 1974, pp. 38-43.
- Guidance Associates (Producer). Understanding changes in the family:
 Not together anymore. 41 Washington Ave., Pleasantville, NY,
 10570, no date. (Film)



- Gurman, A. S., & Rice, D. G. (Eds.). Couples in conflict: New directions in marital therapy. New York: Jason Aronson, 1975.
- Hallett, K. A guide for single parents. Millbrae, CA: Celestial Arts, 1973.
- Hardy, R. E., & Cull, J. G. Creative divorce through social and psychological approaches. Springfield, IL: Charles Thomas, 1974.
- Hedri, A. Marital crises in prosperous families. Seitschrift Fur Psychotherapie Und Medizinische Psychologie, 1971, 21(1), 35-38.
- Hensley, J. C. Help for single parents. Jackson, MS: Christian tion Commission, 1973.
- Heritage, L. J. A study of selected factors and their effect on post-divorce adjustment. Dissertation Abstracts International, March 1972, 32(9-A).
- Herman, S. J. <u>Divorce</u>, a grief process. <u>Perspectives in Psychiatric</u> Care, 1974, 12(3), 108-112.
- Hetherington, E. M. Effects of father absence on personality development in adolescent daughters. Developmental Psychology, 1972, 7(3), 313-326.
- Hetherington, E. M., Cox, M., & Cox, R. The aftermath of divorce. Invited address at the American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, 1976.
- Hetherington, E. M., & Deur, J. The effects of father absence on child development. Young Children, 1971, 26, 233-248.
- Hill, C. T., Rubin, Z., & Peplau, L. A. Breakups Lafore marriage: The end of the 103 affairs. *Journal of Social Issues*, 1976, 32(1), 147-168.
- Hirson, B. Divorce, what a woman needs to know. Chicago: Henry Regnery, 1973.
- Hoffman, M. Father absence and conscience development. Developmental Psychology, 19/1, 4(3), 400-406.
- Holmes, R., & Rahe, R. The social readjustment rating scale. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 1967, 11, 213-218.
- Hopkins, E., & McClure, E. M. Social systems and family patterns: A propositional inventoru. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1971.

٧.

- Hozman, T., & Froiland, D. Families in divorce: A proposed model for counseling children. The Family Coordinator, 1976, 25(3), 271-277.
- Hudson, R. L. 'Til diverce do us part. Nashville, TN: Thomas Nelson, Inc., 1973.
- Hunt, M. The world of the formerly married. New York: McGraw Hill, 1966.
- Hunt, M. Help wanted: Divorce counseling. The New York Times Magazine, 1967, pp. 14-17.
- Institute of Life Insurance. Youth-finance related attitudes--1972. New York: Author, 1973.
- Introduction to the sociological analysis of divorce. Sociologia, 1970, 4(1), 197-250.
- Israel, S. A bibliography on divorce. New York: Bloch Publishing Co., 1974.
- Jaffe, D. T., & Kanter, R. M. Couple strains in communal households:
 A four-factor model of the separation process. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 169-192.
- Johnson, W. A special code of professional responsibility in domestic relations statutes? Reprinted from the Family Law Quarterly, 1975, IX(4), 595-614.
- Johnson, W. D. Divorce, an experiment in education. The Single Parent, October 1975, pp. 7-11; 53.
- Jones, W. H. Lenders' bias hits women. The Washington Post, October 13, 1973.
- Kahn, R., & Kahn, L. The divorce lawyer's casebook. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1972.
- Kalenik, S., & Bernstein, J. S. How to get a divorce. Washington, DC: Washingtonian Books, 1976.
- Karlins, M., & Andrews, L. M. Biofeedback: Turning on the power of your mind. New York: Warner, 1973.
- Kay, H. H. A family court: The California proposal. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), Divorce and after. New York: Anchor Books, 1971.
- Kelleher, S. J. Divorce and remarriage for Catholics. Garden City, NY: Doubleday, 1973.



- Kessler, S. Survey of emotional divorce. Atlanta, GA: Georgia State Counseling Center, 1974.
- Kessler, S. Can't live with him/can't live without him. New Woman, 1975, 5(1). (a)
- Kessler, S. The American way of divorce. Chicago: Nelson Hall, 1975. (b)
- Kessler, S. Divorce adjustment. In Counseling Center, Georgia State University (Ed.), Counseling center functions in an urban university: A research monograph. Unpublished monograph, Georgia State University, 1976. (a)
- Kessler, S. Divorce adjustment groups. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 54(5), 250-255. (b)
- Kessler, S. Strategic interventions in divorce counseling. Invited presentation to National Council on Family Relations, New York, October 1976. (c)
- Kessler, S. Beyond divorce: Leader's guide. Atlanta, GA: National Institute for Professional Training, 1977. (a)
- Kessler, S. Beyond divorce: Participant's guide. Atlanta, GA:
 National Institute for Professional Training, 1977. (b)
- Kessler, S., & Bostwick, S. Beyond divorce: Coping skills for minors. Journal of Clinical and Child Psychology, 1977, 6(2), 38-41. (a)
- Kessler, S., & Bostwick, S. Beyond divorce: Coping skills for minors: Participant's guide. Atlanta, GA: National Institute for Professional Training, 1977. (b)
- Klein, C. The single parent experience. New York: Walker and Company, 1973.
- Knox, D. Marriage happiness. Chicago: Research Press Co., 1971.
- Kohut, N. C. Divorce for the unbroken marriage. Madison, WI: Family Law Publications, 1973.
- Krantzler, M. Creative divorce. New York: M. Evans, 1974.
- Kressel, K., & Deutsch, M. Divorce therapy: An in-depth survey of therapist's views (Grant #BN S74-02477 AOZ). Unpublished grant report sponsored by National Science Foundation, Washington, DC, 1976.
- Kriesberg, L. Mothers in poverty: A study of fatherless families. Chicago: Aldine, 1970.



- Landis, J. T. The trauma of children when parents divorce. In J. P. Wiseman (Ed.), *People as partners*. San Francisco: Canfield Press, 1971.
- Lasch, C. Divorce and the family in America. In M. Merbaum & G. Stricker (Eds.), Search for human understanding: A reader in psychology. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1971.
- Lasch, C. Easy divorce is a form of social insurance. In M. Merbaum & G. Stricker (Eds.), Search for human understanding: A reader in psychology. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1971.
- Lasswell, M., & Laswell, T. Love, marriage, family: A developmental approach. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman, 1973.
- Lauer, R., & Thomas, R. A comparative analysis of the psychological consequences of change. Human Relations, 1976, 29(3), 239-248.
- Lazarus, A. A. Behavior therapy and beyond. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971.
- Lee, R., & Casebier, M. *The spouse gap*. Nashville, TN: Abington Press, 1971.
- Lesse, S. Anxiety: Its components, development and treatment. New York: Grune & Stratton, 1970.
- Levine, J. Who will raise the children? New options for fathers (and mothers). New York: J. B. Lippincott Co., 1976.
- Levinger, G. A social psychological perspective on marital dissolution. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 21-48.
- Levinger, G., & Moles, O. C. In conclusion: Threads in the fabric. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 193-208.
- Libby, R., & Whitehurst, R. Renovating marriage. Danville, CA: Consensus Publishers, 1973.
- Lichtenberger, J. P. Divorce: A social interpretation. New York: Arno Press, 1972.
- Lieberman, J. K. The tyronny of the experts. New York: Walker Publishing Co., 1970.



- Littenberg, R., et al. Cognitive components of separation anxiety. Developmental Psychology, 1971, 4(3), 387-388.
- Lyman, H. B. Single again. New York: David McKay, 1971.
- Lyness, J. L., Lipetz, M. E., & Davis, K. Living together: An alternative to marriage. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1972, 34(2), 305-311.
- Lynn, D. B. The father: His role in child development. Monterey, CA: Brooks Cole, 1974.
- Mackeen, B. A., & Herman, A. Effects of group counseling on self-esteem. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 1974, 21(3), 210-214.
- Mannes, M., & Sheresky, N. Uncoupling: The art of coming apart. New York: Viking Press, 1972.
- Marriage, divorce and adoption law in the U.S. Jamaica, NY: Gould Publications, 1972.
- Martin, J. R. Divorce and remarriage. Scottsdale, PA: Herald Press, 1974.
- Masterson, J. F. Maternal clinging, separation-individuation, and the borderline syndrome. International Journal of Child Psychotherapy, 1974, 2(3), 331-334.
- May, R. Love and will. New York: Dell Publishing Co., 1973.
- Mazur, R. The new intimacy: Open ended marriage and alternative lifestyles. Boston: Beacon Press, 1973.
- McDermott, J. F. Divorce and its psychiatric sequelae in children. Archives of General Psychiatry, 1970, 23(5), 421-427.
- McKenney, M. Divorce: A selected annotated bibliography. Metuchen, NJ: Scarecrow Press, 1975.
- Mead, M. Anomalies in American postdivorce relationships. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), *Divorce and after*. New York: Anchor/Doubleday, 1971.
- Mendels, J. Concepts of depression. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1970.
- Miller, A. Reactions of friends to divorce. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), Divorce and after. New York: Anchor/Doubleday, 1971.



- Moles, O. C. Marital dissolution and public assistance payments: Variations among American states. *Journal of Social Issues*, 1976, 32(1), 87-102.
- Morris, D. E. The end of marriage. London: Cassell, 1971.
- Morris, J., & Prescott, M. Transition groups: An approach to dealing with post-partnership anguish. *The Family Coordinator*, 1975, <u>24</u>(3), 325-330.
- Mortlock, B. The inside of divorce: A critical examination of the system. London: Constable, 1972.
- National Center for Social Statistics. Public assistance statistics: September, 1974. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1974.
- Norton, A., & Glick, P. C. Marital instability: Past, present and future. *Journal of Social Issues*, 1976, 32(1) 5-20.
- O'Brien, P. The woman alone. New York: Quadrangle Books, 1973.
- 01ds, S. W. Is divorce contagious? Ladies Home Journal, 1977, 94, 81-156.
- Olshaker, B. What shall we tell the kids? New York: Arbor House, 1971.
- Olson, D. H. Marital and family therapy: Integrative review and critique. 'In C. Broderick (Ed.), A decade of family research and action. Minneapolis: National Council of Family Relations, 1972.
- O'Neill, N., & O'Neill, G. Open marriage: A new life style for couples. New York: M. Evans and Co., 1972.
- O'Neill, W. Divorce in the progressive era. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1967.
- Palmer, S. E. Reasons for marriage breakdown: A case study in Southwestern Ontario. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 1971, 2(2), 251-262.
- Parker, R. S. Emotional common sense: How to avoid self-destructiveness. New York: Harper & Row, 1973.
- Pascall, H. J. Need interaction as a factor in marital adjustment. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1974, 35(4-A), 2056-2057.
- Pederson, F. Does research on children reared in father-absent families yield information on father influences? The Family Coordinator, 1976, 25(4), 459-464.



- Peppler, A. S. Divorced and Christian. St. Louis, MO: Concordia, 1974.
- Pollak, G. K. Sexual dynamics of parents without partners. Social Work, 1970, 15(2), 79-86.
- Pope, H., & Mueller, C. W. The intergenerational transmission of marital instability: Comparisons by race and sex. *Journal of Social Issues*, 1976, 32(1), 49-66.
- Prentice, B. 500 back to work ideas for housewives. New York: MacMillan, 1971.
- Ramey, J. W. Communes, group marriage and the upper middle class.

 Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1972, 34(4), 647-655.
- Ramey, J. W. Intimate networks: Will they replace the monogamous family? The Futurist, August 1975, pp. 175-182.
- Ramos, S. Teaching your child to cope with crisis. New York: David McKay Co., Inc., 1975.
- Raschke, H. J. Social and psychological factors in voluntary postmarital dissolution adjustment. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota, 1974.
- Reid, R. J. Ontario divorce guide. Toronto: Self-Counsel Press, 1973.
- Renne, K. S. Health and marital experience in an urban population. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1971, 33(2), 338-350.
- Rheinstein, M. Divorce law in Sweden. In P. Bohannan (Ed.), Divorce and after. New York: Anchor/Doubleday, 1971.
- Rheinstein, M. Marriage stability, divorce and the law. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1972.
- Roberts, S. But why the epidemic? It could be as simple as making do won't do. New York Times, January 5, 1974.
- Rogers, C. Becoming partners. New York: Delacorte, 1972.
- Rokeach, M. The nature of human values. New York: The Free Press, 1973.
- Roleder, G. Marriage means encounter. Dubuque, IA: William C. Brown Co., 1973.
- Rosenblatt, P. C., & Hillabrant, W. J. Divorce and childlessness and the regulation of adultery. *Journal of Sex Research*, 1972, 8(2), 117-127.



- Rosner, S., & Hobe, L. The marriage gap. New York: David McKay Co., 1974.
- Rosow, I., & Rose, K. D. Divorce among doctors. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1972, 32(4), 587-599.
- Ross, H. L., & Sawhill, I. Time of transition: The growth of families headed by women. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute, 1975.
- Rycroft, C. Anxiety and neurosis. London: Penguin Books, 1970.
- Ryker, M. J. Six selected factors influencing educational achievement of children from broken homes. *Education*, 1971, 91, 200-211.
- Saline, C. Living happily ever after. . . (the divorce). Today, The Philadelphia Inquirer, July 9, 1972.
- Salk, L. Telling children about divorce. Trend, The Baltimore Sun, August 12, 1973.
- Santrock, J. Father absence, perceived maternal behavior, and moral development in boys. *Child Development*, 1975, 46, 753-757.
- Schacter, S., & Singer, J. Cognitive, social and physiological determinants of emotional state. In M. R. Goldfried & M. Merbaum, Behavior change through self-control. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1973.
- Schlesinger, B. The one-parent family: Perspectives and annotated bibliography. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1970.
- Schoicket, S. G. Affinal relationships of the divorced mother. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1970, 31(1-A), 469.
- Sciara, F. Effects of father absence on the achievement of urban black children. *Child Study Journal*, 1975, <u>5</u>(1), 45-55.
- Scott, G., & Smith, L. Women alone. London: Elm Tree Books, 1971.
- Sheresky, N., & Mannes, M. Uncoupling: The art of coming apart. New York: Viking Press, 1972.
- Sherman, C. E. How to do your own divorce in California. Berkeley: NOLO Press, 1972.
- Silvern, S., & Yawkey, T. Divorce: Some effects on and teaching strategies for young children (Child and Family Studies Program Area). Unpublished manuscript, University of Wisconsin, 1975.



- Simkins, L. Clinical psychology at the choice point: Coexistence, divorce, or mutation. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 1970, 16(3), 180-189.
- Singer, L. J. Divorce and the single life. Divorce as development.

 Journal of Sex and Marital Therapy, 1975, 1(3), 254-262.
- Skolnick, A., & Skolnick, J. (Eds.). Family in transition. Boston: Little Brown and Company, 1971.
- Smith, J. B. Separation anxiety, a personal experience. American Journal of Nursing, 1975, 75(6), 972-973.
- Spicer, J. W., & Hampe, G. D. Kinship interaction after divorce. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1975, 37(1), 113-119.
- Stetson, D. M. The two faces of policy. Divorce reform in Western democracies. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 1975, 6(1), 15-30.
- Stevens, A. G. Attachment behavior, separation anxiety and stranger anxiety in polymetrically reared infants. In H. R. Schaffer (Ed.), The origins of human social relations. London, New York: Academic Press, 1971.
- Stewart, S. Divorced! I wouldn't have given a nickel for your chances.

 Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 1974.
- Stolte-Keiskanen, V. Contextual analysis and theory construction in cross-cultural family research. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 1972, 3, 33-49.
- Talmon, Y. Family and community in the kibbutz. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1972.
- The broken family: Divorce U.S. style. Newsweek, March 12, 1973, pp. 47-55.
- Tinsley, M. B. Survival directory for women. Fairfax, VA: Tensor Industries, 1976.
- Toffler, A. Future shock. New York: Random House, 1970.
- United Methodist Church. Ritual in a new day: An invitation. Author, P. O. Box 840, Nashville, TN 97202, 1976.
- U. S. Bureau of the Census. Money income and poverty status of families and persons in the United States: 1974 (Current Population Reports, Series P-60, No. 99). Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1975.



- U. S. Bureau of the Census. Marital status and living arrangements:

 March 1976 (Current Population Reports, Series P-20, No. 306).

 Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1977.
- U. S. Public Health Service. Births, marriages, divorces and deaths for January 1977. Monthly Vital Statistics Report, 1977, 26(1). (HRA 77-1120)
- U. S. Women's Bureau. Women workers today (U. S. Department of Labor Employment Standards Administration). Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1973.
- Veroff, J., & Feld, S. Marriage and work in America: A study of motives and roles. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., 1970.
- Wainwright, S. Arizona divorce without a lawyer. Tucson, AZ: Omen Press, 1973.
- Waller, R. E. Life-style and self-appraisal in middle-aged, married, and educated women (Doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin, 1975). Dissertation Abstracts International, 1975, 35(7-A), 4173-4174.
- Wallerstein, J. S., & Kelly, J. B. The effects of parental divorce. Experiences of the preschool child. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 1975, 14(4), 600-616.
- Wallerstein, J. S., & Kelly, J. B. Effects of parental divorce. Experiences of the child in later latency. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 1976, 46(2), 256-269.
- Wasserman, H. A comparative study of school performance among boys from broken and intact black families. The Journal of Negro Education, 1972, 41(2), 137-141.
- Water, H. Games singles play. Newsweek, July 16, 1973, pp. 52-58.
- Wayhinger, J. Before divorce. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1972.
- Weisman, A. D. On dying and denying. New York: Behavioral Publications, Inc., 1972.
- Weiss, R. Marital separation. New York: Basic Books, 1975.
- Weiss, R. Impact of separation. Journal of Social Issues, 1976, 32(1), 135-145.
- Weiss, R. S. A preliminary examination of potential contributions of quality of life data to an understanding of single parenting (Report No. ASPE-76-040). Boston, MA: Harvard Medical School, Laboratory of Community Psychiatry, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (HEW), June 1976. (a)



- Weiss, R. S. Deciding the custody of children of separating parents:

 A preliminary literature review (Report No. ASPE-76-041). Boston,
 MA: Harvard Medical School, Laboratory of Community Psychiatry,
 Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (HEW),
 June 1976. (b)
- Westman, J. C. Effects of divorce on a child's personality development. Medical Aspects of Human Sexuality, 1972, 6(1), 38-55.
- Westman, J. C., Cline, D. W., Swift, W. J., & Kramer, D. A. Role of child psychiatry in divorce. Archives of General Psychiatry, 1970, 23(5), 416-420.
- Wheeler, M. No fault divorce. Boston: Beacon Press, 1974.
- Wilkinson, G., & Bleck, R. Children's divorce groups. Elementary School Guidance and Counseling, 1977, 11(3), 205-212.
- Wiseman, R. S. Crisis theory and the process of divorce. Miami, FL: University of Miami Medical School. Social Casework, 1975, 56(4), 204-212.
- Women: More jobs, but low pay. U. S. News and World Report, October 8, 1973, pp. 41-43.
- Women's guide to divorce ir New York. New York: Women Law Center, 1973.
- Wrenn, L. G. (Ed.). Divorce and remarriage in the Catholic church. New York: Newman, 1973.
- Yates, M. Coping: A survival manual for women alone. New York: Prentice Hall, 1976.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Midlife Career Change Counseling

- Adams, L. P. Employment prospects for older workers. In Employment of the middle-aged worker. New York: National Council on the Aging, 1969.
- Arbeiter, S., Aslanian, C. B., Schmerbeck, F. A., & Brickell, H. M.

 40 million Americans in career transition: The need for information.

 New York: College Entrance Examination Board, 1978.
- Astin, H. S. Continuing education and the development of adult women. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 55-60.
- Beitz, C., & Washburn, M. Creating the future. New York: Bantam Books, 1974.
- Belkin, G. S. Practical counseling in the schools. Dubuque, IA: William C. Brown, 1975.
- Bernard, J. Women, marriage, and the future. *The Futurist*, April 1970, pp. 41-43.
- Berry, J. Counseling older women: A perspective. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3), 130-131.
- Biggs, D. Breaking out...of a job you don't like...and the regimented life. New York: David McKay Co., Inc., 1973.
- Bocknek, G. A developmental approach to counseling adults. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 37-40.
- Bolles, R. What color is your parachute? Berkeley: Ten Speed Press, 1971.
- Bolles, R. The three boxes of life. Berkeley: Ten Speed Press, 1978.
- Brim, O. G., Jr. Theories of the male mid-life crisis. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 2-9.
- Britton, J. O. Training and counseling of the older worker. Journal of Employment Counseling, 1970, 7(4), 137-141.
- Brolin, D. Agency settings for career guidance. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1975, 53(9), 686-690.



- Brown, T. The middle-life search for vocation. Paper presented at the American Personnel and Guidance Association, Chicago, Illinois, March 1972. Quoted in R. Hoenninger, New careers for mid-life: May we help you? Washington, DC: National Vocational Guidance Association, 1974.
- Callings, K. J. The second time around: Finding a civilian career in mid-life. Cranston, RI: Carroll Press, 1971.
- Clopton, W. Personality and career change. Industrial Gerontology, 1973, 9-17.
- Coser, R. L., & Rokoff, G. Women in the occupational world: Social disruption and conflict. Social Problems, 1971, 18, 535-554.
- Crystal, J. C., & Bolles, R. N. Where do I go from here with my life? New York: Seabury, 1974.
- Darnley, F. Adjustment to retirement: Integrity or despair. The Family Coordinator, 1975, 24, 217-226.
- Dyer, L. D. Implications of job displacement at mid-career. Industrial Gerontology, 1973, 17, 38-46.
- Edmiston, S. Love, honor, and earn. Working Woman, November 1976.
- Entine, A. D. Mid-life counseling: Prognosis and potential. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3), 112-114.
- Entine, A. D. Counseling for mid-life and beyond. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1977, 25, 332-336.
- Erickson, E. H. Identity: Youth and crisis. New York: Norton, 1968.
- Farmer, H. INQUIRY project: computer-assisted counseling centers for adults. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 50-54.
- Fillenbaum, G. The working retired. Gerontology, 1974, 26(1), 82-89.
- Fine, S. A., & Wiley, W. W. An introduction to functional job analysis: A scaling of selected tasks from the social welfare field. Kalamazoo, MI: The W. E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research, 1971.
- Fozard, J. L., & Nuttall, R. L. General aptitude test battery scores for men in different age and socio-economic groups. In §. M. Shatto (Ed.), *Employment of the middle aged*. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1972.



- Ginzberg, E. Toward a theory of occupational choice: A restatement. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1972, 20(3), 169-176.
- Gould, R. The phases of adult life: A study in developmental psychology. American Journal of Psychiatry, 1972, 33-43.
- Goulet, L. R., & Baltes, P. B. (Eds.). Life-span developmental psychology. New York: Academic Press, 1970.
- Greenwald, J. Be the person you were meant to be. New York: Dell, 1974.
- Gross, E. Patterns of organizational and occupational socialization. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1975, 140-149.
- Harris, T. A. I'm OK--you're OK. New York: Harper & Row, 1967.
- Harrison, L., & Entine, A. D. Existing programs and emerging strategies. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 45-49.
- Havighurst, R. J. Stages of vocational development. In H. Borow (Ed.), Man in a world of work. Boston: Houghton-Mifflin, 1964.
- Heddesheimer, J. Multiple motivations for mid-career changes. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3), 109-111.
- Henry, W. E. The role of work in structuring the life cycle. Human Development, 1971, 14, 125-131.
- Hiestand, D. C. Changing careers after 35. New York: Columbia *University Press, 1971.
- Hills, L. R. How to retire at 41: Or dropping out of the rat race without going down the drain. Garden City, NY: Doubleday, 1973.
- Hochschild, A. R. The unexpected community. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1973.
- Irish, R. Go hire yourself an employer. Garden City, NY: Doubleday, 1973.
- James, M., & Jongeward, D. Born to win. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1971.
- Jarvik, L. F., Eisdorfer, C., & Blum, J. E. (Eds.). Intellectual functioning in adults. New York: Sp.inger, 1973.
- Joseph, J. The complete out-of-doors job, business and profession guide. Chicago: Henry Regnery Co., 1974.



- Kisschau, P. L. Reevaluating the need for retirement preparation programs. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1974, 42-59.
- Kelleher, C. H. Second careers--A growing trend. Industrial Gerontology, 1973, 1-8.
- Kinn, J. M. Unemployment and mid-career change: A blueprint for today and tomorrow. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1973, <u>17</u>, 47-59.
- Koyl, L. F. Employing the older worker: Matching the employee to the job. Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, 1974.
- Lakein, A. How to get control of your time and your life. New York: The New American Library, Inc., 1973.
- LeShan, E. The wonderful crisis of middle age. New York: Warner Paperback Library, 1974.
- Levinson, D., Darrow, C. M., Klein, E. B., Levinson, M. H., & McKee, B. Periods in the adult development of men: Ages 18-45. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 21-25.
- Loeser, H. Women, work and volunteerism. Boston: Beacon Press, 1974.
- Loring, R. K., 2 Otto, H. A. New life options (the working woman's resource book). New York: McGraw-Hill, 1976.
- Loughary, J. W., & Ripley, T. M. This isn't quite what I had in mind. Eugene, OR: United Learning Corporation, 1974.
- Loughary, J. W., & Ripley, T. M. Life is just a bowl of cherries. In Second chance: Everybody's guide to career change. Chicago: Follett, 1975.
- Lowenthal, M. F., Thurnher, M., Chiriboga, M. D., & Associates. Four stages of life. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1975.
- Lowenthal, M. F., & Weiss, L. Intimacy and crises in adulthood. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 10-15.
- McCoy, V. Student wives: Lives in limbo. The Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1976, 35-42.
- McCoy, V. R., & Cassell, P. Career exploration workshop for women. Trainer and Participant Manuals. Lawrence, KS: University of Kansas, 1975.
- McCoy, V. R., & Rozelle, R. Life/career workshop for men and women. Trainer and Participant Manuals. Lawrence, KS: University of Kansas, 1977.



- McFarland, R. A. The need for functional age measurements in industrial gerontology. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1973, <u>18</u>, 1-19.
- McKee, B. New careers for teachers. Chicago: Henry Regnery Company, 1972.
- Murray, J. R., Powers, E. A., & Havighurst, R. J. Personal and situational factors producing flexible careers. *The Gerontologist*, 1971, 11(2), 4-12.
- National Advisory Council on Adult Education. Career renewal for adults through education. Washington, DC: Author, May 1972.
- Nelson, N. Technical training guide for physical demands analysis. Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, 1973.
- Neugarten, B. L. The awareness of middle age. In R. Owen (Ed.), Middle age. London: British Broadcasting Corporation, 1967.
- Neugarten, B. The rise of the young-old. New York Times, January 18, 1975, p. 29.
- Newman, M., & Berkowitz, B. How to be your own best friend. New York: Ballantine Books, 1974.
- Newman, M., & Berkowitz, B. How to take charge of your life. New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1977.
- O'Neill, G., & O'Neill, N. Shifting gears: Finding security in a changing world. New York: M. Evans and Company, 1974.
- Otto, H. A. Group methods to actualize human potential. Beverly Hills, CA: Holistic Press, 1968.
- Otto, H., & Mann, J. Ways of growth. New York: Pocket Books, 1971.
- Pascal, A. H. An evaluation of policy related research on programs for mid-life career redirection. Vol. 1: Executive summary.

 Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corporation, 1975.
- Pascal, A. H., Bell, D., Dougharty, L. A., Dunn, W. L., & Thompson, V. M, with contributions by L. S. Olson & L. L. Prusoff. An evaluation of policy related research on programs for mid-life career redirection. Vol. II: Major findings. Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corporation, 1975.
- Peck, R. C. Psychological developments in the second half of life.
 In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), Middle age and aging: A reader in social psychology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.



- Price, G., & McCoy, V. Adult life cycle: A roadmap for career education.

 The Career Educator. Charleston, IL: Eastern Illinois University
 Press, 1977.
- Richmond, A. New careers for social workers. Chicago: Henry Regnery Company, 1974.
- Robertson, L. How to start a money-making business at home. New York: Frederick Fell Publishers, Inc., 1969.
- Schlossberg, N. K. Adult men: Education or re-education. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1970, 19(1).
- Schlossberg, N. K. Career development in adults. American Vocational Journal, 1975, 50, 38-41.
- Schlossberg, N. K. Programs for adults. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1975, 53(9), 681-685.
- Schlossberg, N. K. The case for counseling adults. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 33-36.
- Schlossberg, N. K., & Troll, L. E. Perspectives in counseling adults. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, 1975.
- Sheehy, G. Passages: Predictable crises of adult life. New York: E. P. Dutton, 1976.
- Sinick, D. Counseling older persons: Careers, retirement, dying. New York: Human Sciences Press, 1975.
- Splaver, S. Paraprofessions. New York: Julian Messner, 1974.
- Teal, E. A. *The occupational thesaurus*. (2 vols.). Bethlehem, PA: Lehigh University, 1971.
- Thomas, L. E. Why study mid-life career change? Vocational Guidonce Quarterly, 1975, 37-40.
- Thomas, L. E., Mlea, R. L., Robbins, P. I., & Harvey, D. W. Corporate dropouts: A preliminary typology. *Vocational Guidance Quarterly*, 1976, 24, 220-228.
- Thurnher, M. Goals, values, and life evaluations at the preretirement stage. Journal of Gerontology, 1974, 29(1), 85-96.
- Tiedeman, D., & O'Hara, R. Career development: Choice and adjustment. Princeton, NJ: College Entrance Examination Board, 1963.



- Toffler, A. Future shock. New York: Bantam Books, 1970.
- Troll, L. E., & Nowak, C. How old are you?--The question of age bias in the counseling of adults. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 1976, 6(1), 41-44.
- Turner, R. G., & Whitaker, W. M. The impact of mass layoffs on older workers. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1973, 16, 14-21.
- U. S. Bureau of the Census. 1970 Census of population. Vol. II, 4C.

 Marital status. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office,
 1972.
- U. S. Bureau of the Census. 1970 Census of population. Vol. II, 4B.

 Persons by family characteristics. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1973.
- U. S. Bureau of the Census. Some recent changes in American families.

 Current Population Reports (Series P-23, No. 52). Washington, DC:
 U. S. Government Printing Office, 1975.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Handbook for analyzing jobs. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1972.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Job satisfaction: Is there a trend? (Manpower Research Monograph No. 30). Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1974.
- Vaillant, G. E., & MacArthur, C. C. Natural history of male psychologic health: The adult life cycle from 18-50. Seminars in Psychiatry, 1972, 4.
- Vocational biographies. Sauk Centre, MN: Vocational Biographies, 1972.
- Walz, G. R. Mid-career change: An overview of counseling practices and programs. Searchlight Plus. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, School of Education, The University of Michigan, 1978.
- Wedderburn, D. Prospects for the reorganization of work. The Gerontologist, 1975, 15(3), 236-241.
- Withers, W. Some irrational beliefs about retirement in the U.S. Industrial Gerontology, 1974, 23-32.
- Work in America. Report of the Special Task Force for the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1972.



- Young, A. M. Going back to school at 35 and over. Monthly Labor Review, 1975, 98, 47-50.
- Zawada, M. A., & Walz, G. R. *Counseling adults*. Searchlight Plus. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, School of Education, The University of Michigan, 1978.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Preretirement Counseling

- American Association of Retired Persons/National Retired Teachers Association. 1974 legislative objectives and 1974-75 state guidelines. Washington, DC: Author, 1974.
- American Personnel and Guidance Association. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3). (Entire issue)
- Arneld, S., Brock, J., Ledford, L., & Richards, H. Ready or not: A study manual for retirement. New York: Manpower Education Institute, 1974.
- Arthur, J. K. Retire to action: A guide to voluntary service.

 Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1969.
- Belbin, R. M. The discovery method: An effective technique for training older workers. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1968.
- Belbin, R. M. The discovery method in training older workers. In H. L. Sheppard (Ed.), Toward an industrial gerontology. Cambridge, MA: Schenkman Publishing Company, 1970.
- Benjamin, L. Preretirement counseling. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC/CAPS, The University of Michigan, 1978.
- Bocknek, G. A developmental approach to counseling adults. Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 37-40. (EJ 146 011)
- Botwinick, J. Aging and behavior. New York: Springer, 1973.
- Brim, O. G., Jr. Theories of the male mid-life crisis. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 2-9.
- Brotman, H. B. Facts and figures on older Americans: An overview. Washington, DC: Administration on Aging, 1971.
- Bureau of National Affairs. ASPA-BNA survey number 39, retirement policies and programs. Washington, DC: Author, January 1980.
- Butler, R. N., & Lewis, M. I. Aging and mental health: Positive psychosocial approaches. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby, 1973.
- Carp, F. M. (Ed.). The retirement process. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, 1968.



- Clausen, J. The life course of individuals. In M. W. Riley, M. Johnson, & A. Foner (Eds.), Aging and Society (Vol. III). New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1972.
- Close, K. Getting ready to retire. New York: Public Affairs Pamphlets, 1972.
- Collings, K. J. The second time around: Finding a civilian career in midlife. Cranston, RI: Carroll Press, 1971.
- Committee on Aging, U. S. Senate. Hearing before the Subcommittee on Retirement and the Individual. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1967.
- Committee on Aging, U. S. Senate. Hearing before the Subcommittee on Retirement and the Individual. The federal role in encouraging preretirement counseling and new work lifetime patterns. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1969.
- Dailey, C. A. Assessment of lives. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1971.
- Deutscher, I. The quality of postparental life. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), *Middle age and aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Draper, J. E., Lundgren, E. F., & Strother, G. B. Work attitudes and retirement adjustments. Madison: University of Wisconsin, Bureau of Business Research and Service, 1967.
- Eisdorfer, C., & Lawton, M. P. (Eds.). The psychology of adult development and aging. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association, 1973.
- Ellison, D. C. Work, retirement, and the sick role. The Gerontologist, 1968, 189-192.
- Employment and Retirement Section, 1971 White House Conference on Aging. Section recommendations. Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402. No date.
- Fisher, J. A. Educational counseling for adults. Des Moines, IA:
 Drake University, 1969. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service
 No. ED 033 419)
- Fitzpatrick, E. An industry consortium approach to retirement planning—a new program. Aging and Work, Summer 1978, 1(3), 181-188.



- Frankl, V. Man's search for meaning: An introduction to logotherapy. New York: Washington Square Press, 1963.
- Ginzberg, E. Toward a theory of occupational choice: A restatement. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1972, 20, 169-176.
- Ginzberg, E., Ginzburg, S. W., Axelrad, S., & Herma, J. R. Occupational choice: An approach to a general theory. New York: Columbia University Press, 1951.
- Goodman, S. E. National directory of adult and continuing education. Piscataway, NJ: Education and Training Associates, 1968.
- Grabowski, S. M. Educational counseling for adults. Adult Leadership, 1972, 20(7), 266-267. (EJ 049 990)
- Grace, H. A. Industrial gerontology: Behavioral science perspectives on work and aging. In *Industrial gerontology: Curriculum materials*. New York: National Council on the Aging, 1968.
- Green, R. F. Age, intelligence, and learning. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1972, 12, 29-41.
- Greene, M. R., Pyron, H. D., Manion, U. V., & Winklevoss, H. Personnel policy, retirement adjustment, and old age. Research sponsored by the Administration on Aging, Department of HEW, University of Oregon, 1969.
- Greene, M., Pyron, H. C., Manion, U. V., & Winklevoss, H. Preretirement counseling, retirement adjustment and the older employee. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon, Graduate School of Management and Business, 1969.
- Griew, S. Job redesign. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1964.
- Harris, L., & Associates. 1979 study of American attitudes toward pensions and retirement. New York: Johnson & Higgins, 1979.
- Harrison, L. Survey of career planning and development approaches for adults: Focus on ethnic minorities and women. Palo Alto, CA:
 American Institutes for Research, 1975.
- Hewitt, E., & Associates. Company practices regarding older workers and retirement. Libertyville, IL: Author, 1952.
- Hiestand, D. L. Changing careers after thirty-five: New horizons through professional and graduate study. New York: Columbia University Press, 1971.



- Holmes, T. H., & Rahe, R. H. The social adjustment rating scale. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 1967, 2, 213-218.
- Hunter, W. W. A cross national appraisal of preretirement education.

 Ann Arbor, MI: The University of Michigan, Division of Gerontology, and the Institute of Labor and Industrial Relations, 1965.
- Hunter, W. W. Preparation for retirement. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan, 1968.
- Jackard, C. R., Jr. The American adult male rejects counseling.

 Adult Leadership, May 1974, 23(1), 9-10; 32. (EJ 097 447)
- Kimmel, D. C. Adulthood and aging: An interdisciplinary, developmental view. New York: Wiley, 1974.
- Knowles, M. The adult learner: A neglected species (2nd ed.). Houston, TX: Gulf Publishing Company, 1978.
- Knowles, M. The modern practice of adult education: Andragogy versus pedagogy. New York: Association Press, 1970.
- Knowles, M. S. The adult education movement in the United States. New York: Holt, 1962.
- Koller, M. R. Social gerontology. New York: Random House, 1968.
- Koyl, L. F. A technique for measuring functional criteria in placement and retirement practices. In H. L. Sheppard (Ed.), Toward on industrial gerontology. Cambridge, MA: Schenkman Publishing Company, 1970.
- Koyl, L. F., Hackney, M., & Holloway, R. D. Employing the older worker: Matching the employee to the job (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, 1974.
- Krings, D. Meeting the counseling needs. Adult Leadership, 1976, 24(9), 311-313. (EJ 138 960)
- Laas, W. Helpful hints on managing your money for retirement. New York: Popular Library, 1970.
- Lawton, G., & Stewart, M. S. When you grow older. New York: Public Affairs Pamphlets, 1968.
- Leshner, S. S., & Snyderman, G. S. Evaluating personal characteristics from a client's work history. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1963, 42, 56-59.



- Levinson, D., et al. The psychosocial development of men. In D. Ricks, A. Thomas, & M. Roff (Eds.), Life history research in psychopathology. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1974.
- Loether, H. J. *Problems of aging*. Belmont, C4: Dickinson Publishing Co., 1967.
- Lowenthal, M. F., Thurnher, M., Chiriboga, D., & Associates. Four stages of life. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1977.
- Lumsden, B. Preretirement education. Information series number 112.
 Columbus, OH: Ohio State University, ERIC Clearinghouse on Career Education, 1977.
- Lynch, J. Two models for preretirement education. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon Center for Gerontology, 1978.
- Lynch, J. Preretirement education: Issues in nomenclature and methodology. Educational Gerontology, 1979, 4(4), 315-333.
- Lynch, J., & Riddell, G. Preretirement education: A multi-group discussion approach. Vancouver, BC: The University of British Columbia, Center for Continuing Education, February 1979.
- Maddox, G. L. Retirement as a social event in the United States. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), *Middle age and aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Malnig, L. R., & Morrow, S. L. What can I do with a major in. . .?

 Jersey City: Saint Peter's College Press, 1975.
- Manion, U. V. Preretirement counseling: The need for a new approach.

 Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3), 119-121. (EJ 147 852)
- Manion, U. V., & Lynch, J. In-career planning for retirement: An integrated reading-discussion workshop (Program leader's outline). Prepared for the Office of the Governor (Budget and Planning), in cooperation with the North Texas State University Center for Community Services, January 1978.
- Marbach, G. Job redesign for older workers. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1968.
- Marcia, J. Development and validation of ego-identity status. Journal of Personal and Social Psychology, 1966, 3, 551-559.
- McGarraghy, J. J. The external degree program: One avenue to a second career. *Industrial Gerontology*, Spring 1973 (No. 17), 61-66.



- Miller, D. C., & Form, W. H. Industrial sociology. New York: Harper, 1951.
- National Council on the Aging. Recommendations for action in the 70's. Washington, DC: The Council, no date.
- National Industrial Conference Board, Inc. Retirement of employees-policies, procedures, practices. Studies in Personnel Policy, No. 148, New York, 1955.
- National Industrial Conference Board, Inc. Corporate retirement policy and practices. Studies in Personnel Policy, No. 190, New York, 1964.
- Neugarten, B. L. The adult years. Winchester, MA: Center for the Study of Liberal Education for Adults, 1965. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 012 055)
- Neugarten, B. L. (Ed.). Middle age and aging. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968a.
- Neugarten, B. L. The awareness of middle age. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), Middle age and aging. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968b.
- Neugarten, B. L., & Associates (Eds.). Personality in middle and late life. New York: Atherton Press, 1964.
- Nejedlo, R. J. Counseling: A central component in adult education. In Adult Education Association of the USA, Problem solving in professional adult education. Washington, DC: Author, 1974.
- O'Meara, J. Retirement--the eighth age of man. The Conference Board Record. New York, 1974, pp. 59-64.
- Overs, R. P., O'Connor, E., & DeMarco, B. Avocational activities for the handicapped: A handbook for avocational counseling. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1974.
- Palmore, E., & Jeffers, F. C. (Eds.). Prediction of life span. Lexington, MA: D. C. Heath, 1971.
- Poliak, O. Positive experiences in retirement. Homewood, IL: Richard D. Irwin, 1957.
- Puner, M. To the good long life: What we know about growing old.

 New York: Universe Books, 1974.
- Pyron, H. C. Preparing employees for retirement. Personnel Journal, 1969, 48(9), 722-727.



- Quirk, D. A. Campaign 1974: Toward a responsive social policy for the elderly. Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, 1974.
- Ragan, P. Socialization for the retirement role: "Cooling the mark out." Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, San Francisco, CA, August 1977.
- Reik, T. Listening with the third ear. New York: Farrar Strauss, 1949.
- Research and Forecasts. Retirement preparation: Growing corporate involvement. Aging and Work, Winter 1980, pp. 1-13.
- Retirement Services Incorporated. Plan now for your retirement: Free to do, free to be. Various authors. Eugene, OR, 1980.
- Retirement Services Incorporated. Retirement program development planning notes. Prepared by U. Vincent Manion for Work, Aging and Retirement Pre-Centennial Convocation, Andrus Gerontology Center, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, January 1980.
- Riley, M. W., & Foner, A. Aging and society (Vol. I). New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1968.
- Rose, C. L., & Bell, B. *Predicting longevity*. Lexington, MA: D. C. Heath, 1971.
- Schlossberg, N. K., Vontress, C. E., & Sinick, D. Dynamics of client-counselor differences. *Vocational Guidance Quarterly*, 1974, 23, 29-33.
- Scott, F., et al. A research study of retirement preparation programs. Final Report. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon, Center for Gerontology, August 1979.
- Seltz, N. C., & Collier, H. V. (Eds.). Meeting the educational and occupational planning needs of adults. Bloomington, IN: School of Continuing Studies, Indiana University, 1977. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 143 885)
- Sheppard, H. L., Ullmann, C. A., Cooperman, I. G., & Samler, J. Second careers as a way of life: A symposium. *Vocational Guidance Quarterly*, 1971, 20, 89-118.



- Sinick, D. Counseling older persons: Careers, retirement, dying. New York: Human Sciences Press, 1977.
- Sinick, D. Occupational information and guidance. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1970.
- Smith, P. C., Kendall, L. M., & Hulin, C. L. The measurement of satisfaction in work and retirement. Chicago: Rand McNally, 1969.
- Social Security Administration, U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Design for dignity: Supplemental security for the aged, blind, and disabled. Washington, DC: The Administration, 1973.
- Special Committee on Aging, United States Senate. Developments in aging: 1973 and January-March 1974. (93rd Congress, 2nd Session, Report No. 93-846.) Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1974.
- Steinberg, J. L. Guide to careers through college majors. San Diego: Robert R. Knapp, 1964.
- Stetson, D. Starting over. New York: Macmillan, 1971.
- Streib, G., & Thompson, W. Adjustment in retirement. Journal of Social Issues, 1958, 14(2).
- Subcommittee on Aging of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare and Special Committee on Aging, United States Senate. Post-White House Conference on Aging Reports, 1973. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1973.
- Super, D. E. A theory of vocational development. American Psychologist, May 1953, 8, 185-190.
- Super, D. E. Avocational interest patterns: A scudy in the psychology of avocations. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1940.
- Thompson, C. H. (Ed.). Counseling the adult student. Proceedings of a Preconvention Workshop of the American College Personnel Association, 1967, Dallas, TX. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 012 857).
- Thompson, C. H. The nature of adult students and the scope of counseling services. In M. L. Farmer (Ed.), Student personnel services for adults in higher education. Meturchen, NJ: Scarecrow Press, 1971.
- Thompson, F. C. (Ed.). The New York Times guide to continuing education in America. New York: Quadrangle Books, 1972.



- Tiberi, D., Boyack, V., & Kerschner, P. A comparative analysis of four preretirement education models. Educational Gerontology, 1978, 3(4), 355-374.
- Tiven, M. B. Older Americans: Special handling required. Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, 1971.
- Troll, L., & Schlossberg, N. How "age biased" are college counselors? Industrial Gerontology, 1971, 10, 14-21.
- U. S. Civil Service Commission. Retirement planning programs. Washington, DC: Author, 1968.
- U. S. Department of Defense. Target--tomorrow: Second career planning for military retirees. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1970.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Counseling and placement services for older workers. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1956.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Dictionary of occupational titles (3rd ed.). Volume I, Definitions of titles. Volume II, Occupational classification. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1965.
- U. S. Department of Labor. A supplement to the dictionary of occupational titles (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1966.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Job redesign for older workers: Ten case studies. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1967.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Education and jobs. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1968.(a)
- U. S. Department of Labor. Supplement 2 to the dictionary of occupational titles (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1968.(b)
- U. S. Department of Labor. Americans volunteer. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1969.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Back to work after retirement. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1971.(a)



- U. S. Department of Labor. Continuing education programs and services for women. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1971.(b)
- U. S. Department of Labor. Get credit for what you know. Washington, DC: Author, 1971.(c)
- U. S. Department of Labor. The employment problems of older workers. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, 1971.(d)
- U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Three budgets for a retired couple. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, Autumn 1979, 1980.
- U. S. Department of Labor. Series: Biology and your career, English and your career, Foreign languages and your career, Math and your career, Science and your career, Social Science and your career. Washington, DC: Author, even years.
- U. S. Public Health Service. Monthly Vital Statistics Report, 1977, 26(1). (HRA 77-1120)
- Walz, G. Mid-career change: An overview of counseling practices and programs. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC/CAPS, The University of Michigan, 1978.
- Weiner, A. Preretirement education: Accent on leisure. Therapeutic Recreation Journal, Second Quarter, 1980, pp. 19-31.
- Wermel, M., & Beideman, G. Retirement preparation programs: A study of company responsibilities. Pasadena, CA: California Institute of Technology, April 1961.
- Whitfield, E. A., & Hoover, R. Guide to careers through vocational training. San Diego: Robert R. Knapp, 1968.
- Whitney, D. R. Predicting from expressed vocational choice: A review. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1969, 48, 279-286.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Leisure Counseling

- Alexander. T. Human development in an urban age. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1973.
- Allen, J. (Ed.). The leisure alternatives catalog. Del Mar, CA: Delta Special/Publisher's Inc., 1979.
- Anderson, M., Elliott, M., & La Berge, J. Play with a purpose. New York: Harper & Row, 1966.
- Bernier, N. R. In defense of leisure. Counseling and Values, 1975, 20(1), 5-11.
- Bernier, N. R., & Davis, R. H. Synergy: A model for implementing multicultural education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 1973, 24, 266-271.
- Bernier, N. R., & Williams, J. E. Beyond beliefs: Ideological foundations of American education. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1973.
- Best, F., & Stern, B. Lifetime distribution of education, work, and leisure: Research, speculations and policy implications of changing life patterns. Washington, DC: Institute for Educational Leadership, George Washington University, 1976.
- Bosserman, P. Implications for youth. In M. Kaplan & P. Bosserman (Eds.), Technology, human values, and leisure. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1971.
- Brightbill, C. The challenge of leisure. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1960.
- Brightbill, C. K., & Mobley, T. A. Educating for leisure-centered living (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1977.
- Brook, J., & Elliot, D. Prediction of psychological adjustment at age 30 from leisure time activities and satisfaction in childhood. *Human Development*, 1971, 14, 15-61.
- Bull, N. C. One measure for defining a leisure activity. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 1971, 3(2), 120-126.
- Cartnal, A. The boom in leisure keeps her busy. Los Angeles Times, August 6, 1971, Part IV, p. 1:7.



- Colby, P. Helping students explore work and leisure options. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, 1976.
- Compton, D. M., & Goldstein, J. E. (Eds.). Perspectives of leisure counseling. Arlington, VA: National Recreation and Park Association, 1977.
- Counseling and Values, 1975, 20(1), whole issue.
- Dawson, A. M., & Baller, W. R. Relationship between creative activity and the health of the elderly. *Journal of Psychology*, 1972, 82, 49-58.
- de Grazia, S. Of time, work and leisure. New York: The Twentieth Century Fund, 1962.
- Dumazedjer, J. Toward a society of leisure. London: Collier Macmillan, 1967.
- Eason, J. Lifestyle counseling for a reluctant leisure class. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1972, 51, 127-132.
- Edwards, P. You've got to find happiness, it won't find you. Freeport, NY: Nash, 1971.
- Edwards, P. B. Leisure counseling techniques. Individual and group counseling step-by-step. Los Angeles: Constructive Leisure, 1980.
- Epperson, A., Witt, P. A., & Hitzhusen, G. (Eds.). Leisure counseling; an aspect of leisure education. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1977.
- Fialka, J. Boredom on the job. Washington-Star News, July 1, 2, 3, 1973.
- Flynn, S. Analysis of recreational behavior and personality characteristics. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1972, 33, 4A-1535.
- Geneva Symposium International Recreation Association. Charter for leisure. *Journal of Health*, *Physical Education and Recreation*, February 1971, 42(2), 28-29.
- Glasser, W. Reality therapy. New York: Basic Books, 1975.
- Godbey, G., & Parker, S. Leisure studies and services: An overview. Philadelphia, PA: W. B. Saunders, 1976.
- Godlman, L. (Ed.). Research methods for counselors: Practical approaches in field settings. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1978.



- Goodman, N. C. Leisure, work, and the use of time. Dissertation Abstracts International, 1969, 30, 48-1897.
- Gunn, S. L. The relationship of leisure counseling to selected counseling theories. In C. M. Compton & J. R. Goldstein (Eds.), *Perspectives of leisure counseling*. Arlington, VA: National Recreation and Park Association, 1977.
- Gunn, S. L., & Peterson, C. A. Therapeutic recreation program design: Principles and procedures. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1978.
- Hawley, R. C., & Hawley, C. L. Developing human potential. Amherst, MA: ERA Press, 1975.
- How Americans pursue happiness. U. S. News and World Report, May 23, 1977, p. 60-76.
- Hubert, E. The development of an inventory of leisure. Ann Arbor, MI: University Microfilms, 1969.
- Johnson, S. Leisure: Relax and enjoy it. New York Times, December 14, 1977, Part C1:C9.
- Kaplan, M. Leisure in America: A social inquiry. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1960.
- Kaplan, M. New concepts of leisure today. Lindeman Memorial Lecture. National Conference on Social Welfare, Dallas, Texas, May 17, 1971.
- Kaplan, M. Leisure: Theory and policy. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1975.
- Kaplan, M., & Bosserman, P. Technology, human values, and leisure. New York: Abingdon Press, 1971.
- Kass, R. A., & Tinsley, E. A. Leisure activities and need satisfaction. Journal of Leisure Research, 1978, 10, 165-213.
- Kegley, G. More vacation time in trend; double pay sought for some. Roanoke Times, June 10, 1973.
- Kelly, J. Work and leisure: A simplified paradigm. Journal of Leisure Research, 1972, $\underline{4}$, 50-62.
- Kiester, E., Jr. They'll help organize your leisure time. Parade, February 25, 1979, pp. 24:27.



- Klein, R., & Swan, R. Providing leisure information in the career resource center. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, 1978.
- Lady of leisure. National Enquirer, February 27, 1972, p. 10.
- Leff, L. Leisure consultants are part Dr. Freud and part Dear Abby. Wall Street Journal, September 12, 1978, Section 1, p. 31.
- Leigh, J. Young people and leisure. London: Humanities Press, 1971.
- Leonitiadeo, M. The concept of leisure. The Conference Board Record, June 1973, 25-28.
- Loesch, L. *Leisure counseling*. Searchlight Plus. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, The University of Michigan, 1980.
- Loughary, J. W., & Ripley, T. M. Helping others help themselves. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1979.
- Maddocks, M. Can fun be taught? Christian Science Monitor, December 29, 1977, p. 2.
- Magulski, M., Faull, V. H., & Rutkowski, B. The Milwaukee leisure counseling model. Journal of Physical Education and Recreation, 1977, 48(4), 25-26.
- Maslow, A. H. Toward a psychology of being (2nd ed.). Princeton, NJ: Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1968.
- McDaniels, C. Vocation: A religious search for meaning. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1965, 12, 31-35.
- McDaniels, C. Leisure and career development in mid-life: A rationale. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1977, 25, 344-350.
- McDowell, C. F. Leisure counseling: Selected lifestyle processes. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon, 1976.
- McDowell, C. F. Counseling for leisure. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1981.
- Mirenda, J. Mirenda leisure interest finder (1973). Paper presented at the Wisconsin Health, Physical Education, and Recreation Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, November 1974.



- Mitchell, E. D., & Mason, B. The theory of play. New York: A. S. Barnes, 1948.
- Moran, J. M. Leisure activities for the mature adult. Minneapolis, MN: Burgess Publishing, 1979.
- Munday, J., & Odum, L. Leisure education theory and practice. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1979.
- Murray, H. A. Explorations in personality. New York: Oxford University Press, 1938.
- Nash, J. B. Philosophy of recreation and leisure. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby, 1353.
- Neulinger, J. The psychology of leisure. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1974.
- Neulinger, J. To leisure: An introduction. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon, 1980.
- Newsweek, March 26, 1973, 79-89.
- Noe, F. An instrumental conception of leisure for the adolescent. Adolescence, 1969, 4(15), 385-400.
- O'Morrow, G. S. Recreation counseling, a challenge to rehabilitation. Rehabilitation Journal, 1970, 31(8), 226-233.
- O'Toole, J. The reserve army of the underemployed: Part 1 and 2. Change, 1975, 7, 26-33; 63; 26-33; 60-63.
- Overs, R. P. Covert occupational information. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1967, $\underline{3}$, 7-12.
- Overs, R. P. A model for avocational counseling. Journal of Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 1970, 41(2), 36-38.
- Overs, R. P. Avocational activities inventory (Revised). (Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports No. 5A.) Milwaukee, WI: Research Department, Curative Workshop of Milwaukee, 1971.
- Overs, R. P. Avocational activity file labels. (Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports No. 5C.) Milwaukee, WI: Research Department, Curative Workshop of Milwaukee, 1972.
- Overs, R. P. Avocational activities for the handicapped. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1974.



- Overs, R. P. Avocational counseling: Gateway to meaningful activity. Counseling and Values, 1975, 20(1), 36-41.
- Overs, R. P. Avocational counseling. The Counseling Psychologist, 1977, 7(2), 85-87.
- Overs, R. P., O'Connor, E., & DeMarco, B. Avocational activities for the handicapped: A handbook for avocational counseling. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas, 1974.
- Overs, R. P., & Page, C. M. Avocational title card sort. (Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports No. 5F.) Milwaukee, WI: Research Department, Curative Workshop of Milwaukee, 1974.
- Overs, R. P., Taylor, S., & Adkins, C. Avocational counseling in Milwaukee. Final report on Project H233466, Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports No. 5D, May 1974.
- Overs, R. P., Taylor, S., & Adkins, C. Avocational counseling manual:

 A complete guide to leisure guidance. Washington, DC: Hawkins,
 1977.
- Overs, R. P., Taylor, S., Cassell, E., & Chernov, M. Avocational counseling for the elderly. Milwaukee, WI: Avocational Counseling Research Reports, January 1977.
- Panik, M. A., & Mobley, T. A. The bottle and the tube: Leisure for the convicted. Parks & Recreation, 1977, 12(3), 28-30; 54-55.
- Piper, J. Leisure: The basis of culture. New York: New American Library, 1963.
- Robinson, J. P. How Americans use time. New York: Praeger, 1977.
- Ross, M. H. Creative loafing. San Diego, CA: Communication Creativity, 1978.
- Schmitz-Scherer, R., & Strodel, I. Age dependency and leisure time activities. Human Development, 1971, 14, 47-50.
- Severinsen, K. N. Should career education be grounded in the Protestant Ethic? Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1979, 58(2), 111-116.
- Shank, J. W., & Kennedy, D. W. Recreation and leisure counseling: A review. Rehabilitation Literature, 1976, 37(9), 258-262.
- Sheppard, H., & Herrick, N. Where have all the robots gone? Worker dissatisfaction in the 70's. New York: Free Press, 1972.



- Simon, S. B., Howe, L. W., & Kirschenbaum, H. Values clarification (Rev. ed.). New York: Hart Publishing, 1978.
- Sorenson, T. Do Americans like their jobs? Parade, June 3, 1973.
- Task Force to the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare. Work in America. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1972.
- Terkel, S. Working: People talk about what they do all day and how they feel about what they do. New York: Pantheon Books, 1974.
- Tillman, A. The program book for recreation. Palo Alto, CA: National Press Books, 1973.
- U. S. Office of Education. Position paper on career education. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1975.
- Walshe, W. A. Leisure counseling instrumentation. In D. M. Compton & J. E. Goldstein (Eds.), *Perspectives of leisure counseling*.

 Arlington, VA: National Recreation and Park Association, 1977.
- Walz, G. R., Benjamin, L., Mamarchev, H. L., & Pritchett, B. Becoming resource resourceful. Module 50. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, 1979.
- Weisberg, P. H. Recreation—a tool for counselors. Counseling and Values, 1975, 20(1), 12-17.
- Weiss, D. J., Dawis, R. V., England, G. W., & Lofquist, L. H. Manual for the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Industrial Relations Center, Bulletin 45, 1967.
- Wilensky, H. L. Work, careers and social integration. International Social Science Journal, 1960, 12, 543-560.
- Wilson, G. The new leisure ethic. Journal of Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 1973, 64-65.
- Wrenn, C. G. Human values and work in American life. In I. H. Borow (Ed.), Man in a world of work. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1964.
- Yalom, I. D. The theory and practice of group psychotherapy (2nd ed.).
 New York: Basic Books, 1975.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Counseling Adults for Life Transitions

- Adams, J. D. Phases of personal and professional **levelopment. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Case Western Peserve University, Cleveland, Ohio, 1969.
- Allen, C. A. Life planning: Its purpose and position in the human potential movement. Unpublished M. A. thesis, University of Leeds, 1975.
- Arieti, S. Creativity: The magic synthesis. New York: Basic Books, 1976.
- Atchley, R. The social forces in later life: An introduction to social gerontology. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth, 1972.
- Baltes, P. B., & Schaie, K. W. The myth of the twilight years. Psychology Today, March 1974, pp. 35-40.
- Barron, F. Carative person and creative process. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1969.
- Benjamin, L., & Walz, G. Enhancing the adult experience: Counseling approaches and activities. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1982.
- Berry, J. Counseling older women: A perspective. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1976, 55(3), 130-131. (EJ 147 856)
- Biondi, A. M. (Ed.). The creative process. Buffalo, NY: D.O.K. Publishers, 1972.
- Birk, J. M. Providing life/career planning for women and girls. Palo Alto, CA: National Consortium on Competency-Based Staff Development, American Institutes for Research, 1979. (ED 140 206)
- Block, J., with Haan, N. Lives through time. Berkeley, CA: Bancroft Books, 1971.
- Bocknek, G. A developmental approach to counseling adults. Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 37-40. (EJ 146 011)
 - Boren, N., et al. Second careers: An integrated learning experience in career change for older persons. *Industrial Gerontology*, 1976, 3(2), 75-82. (EJ 140 876)



- Botwinick, J. Drives, expectancies, and emotions. In J. E. Birren (Ed.), Handbook of aging and the individual: Psychological and biological aspects. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1959.
- Botwinick, J. Cautiousness in advanced age. *Journal of Gerontology*, 1966, 21, 347-353.
- Botwinick, J. Cognitive processes in maturity and old age. New York: Springer, 1967.
- Botwinick, J. Aging and behavior (2nd ed.). New York: Springer, 1978.
- Brewer, J., et al. A new dimension in employee development: A system for career planning and guidance. *Personnel Journal*, 1975, 54(4), 228-231. (EJ 113 842)
- Brim, O. G., Jr. Theories of the male mid-life crisis. The Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 2-9.
- Buhler, C. The general structure of the human life cycle. In C. Buhler & F. Massarik (Eds.), *The course of human lives*. New York: Springer, 1968.
- Buhler, C., & Massarik, F. (Eds.). The course of human lives. New York: Springer, 1968.
- Burton, J. C., & Wilson, P. A career decision-making handbook for adult basic education teachers. Huntsville, AL: Huntsville City Schools, 1975. (ED 115 742)
- Cabot, N. H. You can't count on dying. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, Inc., 1961.
- Chown, S. Rigidity--a flexible concept. *Psychological Bulletin*, 1959, 56, 195-223.
- Chown, S. Age and the rigidities. Journal of Gerontology, 1961, $\underline{16}$, 353-362.
- Clausen, J. The life course of individuals. In M. W. Riley, M. Johnson, & A. Foner (Eds.), Aging and society (Vol. 3). New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1972.
- Cook, P., & Stewart, E. Counseling needs of the older adult. Palo Alto, CA: National Consortium on Competency-Based Staff Development, American Institutes for Research, 1979. (ED 182 678)
- Cowgill, D. O., & Holmes, L. D. (Eds.). Aging and modernization. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1972.



- Dailey, C. A. Assessment of lives. Washington, DC: Jossey-Bass, 1971.
- Davis, R. (Ed.). Aging: Prospects and issues. Los Angeles: Ethel Percy Andrus Gerontology Center, University of Southern California, 1973.
- de Beauvoir, S. The coming of age (P. O'Brian, trans.). New York: Putnam, 1972.
- DeBono, E. Lateral thinking: Creativity step by step. New York: Harper and Row, 1972.
- Deutscher, I. The quality of postparental life. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), Middle age and aging. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Eisdorfer, C., & Lawton, M. P. (Eds.). The psychology of adult development and aging. Washington, DC: The American Psychological Association, 1973.
- Ellison, D. C. Work, retirement, and the sick role. The Gerontologist, 1968, 189-192.
- Entwisle, D. G. Aging: The effects of previous skill on training. Occupational Psychology, 1959, 33, 238-243.
- Farmer, H. Inquiry project: Computer-assisted counseling centers for adults. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Association of Higher Education, Des Moines, IA, May 1975. (ED 122 075)
- Fink, S. L. Crisis and motivation: A theoretical model. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 1967, 48, 592-597.
- Fisher, J. A. Educational counseling for adults. Des Moines, IA: Drake University, 1969. (ED 033 419)
- Fisher, J. A. Yesterday's student--tomorrow's challenge. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the North Central Reading Association, Champaign, IL, October 1977. (ED 149 305)
- Ford, G. A., France, A. M., & Gamewell, B. *Personal planning workshop* (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Mid-Atlantic Training Committee Inc., 1972.
- Frenkel-Brunswik, E. Adjustments and reorientations in the course of the life span. In B. Neugarten (Ed.), *Middle age and aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Golembiewski, R. T. Mid-life transition and mid-career crisis: A special case for individual development. *Public Administration Review*, May/June 1978, pp. 217-222.

131



- Gould, E., & Sheehy, G. Catch 30 and other predictable crises of growing up adult. New York Magazine, 1974, pp. 32-51.
- Gould, R. Transformations: Growth and change in adult life. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1978.
- Goulet, L. R., & Baltes, P. B. (Eds.). Life-span developmental psychology: Research and theory. New York: Academic Press, 1970.
- Grabowski, S. M. Educational counseling for adults. Adult Leadership, 1972, 20(7), 266-267. (EJ 049 990)
- Guilford, J. P. Some misconceptions regarding measurement of creative talents. Journal of Creative Behavior, 1971, 5(2), 77-87.
- Haan, N. Personality development from adolescence to adulthood in the Oakland growth and guidance studies. Seminars in Psychiatry, 1972, 4, 399-414.
- Harrison, L. Survey of career planning and development approaches for adults: Focus on ethnic minorities and women. Palo Alto, CA:
 American Institutes for Research, 1975.
- Harrison, L. R., & Entine, A. D. Existing programs and emerging strategies. Counseling Psychologist, 1976, 6(1), 45-49. (EJ 146 013)
- Havighurst, R. Developmental tasks and education. New York: David McKay Co., 1952.
- Heglin, H. J. Problem solving set in different age groups. Journal of Gerontology, 1956, 11, 310-317.
- Hickey, T., & Szabo, K. Grief intervention and the helping professional. In T. Hickey (Ed.), *Grief: Its recognition and resolution*. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University, 1973.
- Hollander, E. P., & Hunt, R. G. Current perspectives in social psychology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1967.
- Holmes, T. H., & Rahe, R. H. The social adjustment rating scale. *Journal* of Psychosomatic Research, 1967, 2, 213-218.
- Hopson, B., & Hough, P. Exercises in personal and career development. Cambridge: CRAC, 1973.
- Hrinik, W. D. Creative leisure: A programmed pre-retirement decision-making manual (Doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan, 1977). Dissertation Abstracts International, 1977, 38, 2557A. (University Microfilms No. 77-18031)



- Imara, M. Dying is the last stage of growth. In E. Kubler-Ross (Ed.),
 Death: The final stage of growth. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1975.
- Ironside, D. J., & Jacobs, D. E. Trends in counseling and information services for the adult learner. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, 1977. (ED 143 332)
- Jackard, C. R., Jr. The American adult male rejects counseling. Adult Leadership, May 1974, 23(1), 9-10; 32. (EJ 097 447)
- Jones, H. E. Consistency and change in early maturity. Vita Humana, 1958, 1, 43-51.
- Jones, M. C. A report on three growth studies at the University of California. *The Gerontologist*, 1967, 7, 49-54.
- Jones, M. C., Bayley, N., Macfarlane, J. W., & Honzik, M. P. (Eds.). The course of human development: Selected papers from the longitudinal studies, Institute of Human Development, University of California, Berkeley. Waltham, MA, and Toronto: Xerox College Publishing, 1971.
- Jourard, S. M. The transparent self: Self-disclosure and well-being. Princeton, NJ: VanNostrand, 1964.
- Kagan, J. (Ed.). Creativity and learning. Boston: Houghton-Mifflin, 1967.
- Karelius-Schumacher, K. L. Designing a counseling program for the mature woman student. Journal of the NAWDAC, 1977, 41(1), 28-31. (EJ 169 327)
- Kaufmann, W. Without guilt and justice: From decidophobia to autonomy. New York: Peter Wyden, 1973.
- Keleman, S. Living your dying. New York: Random House, 1974.
- Kelly, E. L. Consistency of the adult personality. American Psychologist, 1955, 10, 659-681.
- Keyes, R. We, the lonely people. New York: Harper & Row, 1973.
- Khosh, M. N. A career planning program for women: The experience CUE. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1977. (ED 150 479)
- Kierkegaard, S. A. Stages on life's way. New York: Schocken, 1967.



- Kimmel, D. C. Adulthood and aging. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1974.
- Knowles, M. S. The adult education movement in the United States. New York: Holt, 1962.
- Knowles, M. S. The adult learner: A neglected species (2nd ed.). Houston, TX: Gulf Publishing Company, 1978.
- Kohlberg, L. Stages of moral development as a basis for moral education. In C. Beck & E. Sullivan (Eds.), *Moral education*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1970.
- Krings, D. Meeting the counseling needs. Adult Leadership, 1976, 24(9), 311-313. (EJ 138 960)
- Kubler-Ross, E. (Ed.). Death: The final stage of growth. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1975.
- Kummerow, J. M., et al. *Programming for adult development*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Personnel and Guidance Association, Washington, DC, March 1978. (ED 159 517)
- Kuypers, J. A. Changeability of life styles and personality in old age. The Gerontologist, 1972, 12, 336-342.
- Lake, K. E. The time has come. Lifelong Learning: The Adult Years, 1978, 1(5), 8-9; 33. (EJ 173 082)
- Leavengood, L. Mid-life counseling: New dimensions in theory and practice. Innovative conferences to meet adult needs. Paper presented at the annual convention of the National Association of Student Personnel Administrators, Atlanta, GA, April 1977. (ED 136 181)
- Leibowitz, Z., & Schlossberg, N. Designing programs for adult guidance.
 Palo Alto, CA: National Consortium on Competency-Based Staff
 Development, American Institutes for Research, 1979. (ED 181 379)
- Leibowitz, I., & Schlossberg, N. *Utilizing strategies for adult guidance*. Palo Alto, CA: National Consortium on Competency-Based Staff Development, American Institutes for Research, 1979. (ED 181 378)
- Le Shan, E. The wonderful crisis of middle age: Some personal reflections. New York: David McKay Co., 1973.
- Levinson, D., et al. The psychosocial development of men. In D. F. Ricks, A. Thomas, & M. Roff (Eds.), Life history research in psychopathology.

 Minneapol's: University of Minnesota Press, 1974.



- Loether, H. J. Problems of aging. Belmont, CA: Dickinson Publishing Co., 1967.
- Loevinger, J. Measuring ego development. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1970.
- Lowenthal, M. F. Psychological variations across the adult life course: Frontiers for research and policy. In N. C. Seltz & H. V. Collier (Eds.), Meeting the educational and occupational planning needs of adults. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University School of Continuing Studies, 1976.
- Lowenthal, M. F., & Berkman, P. L. Aging and mental disorder in San Francisco: A social psychiatric study. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1967.
- Lowenthal, M. F., Thurnher, M., Chiriboga, D., & Associates. Four stages of life. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1977.
- Maas, H. S., & Kuypers, J. A. From thirty to seventy. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1974.
- Marcia, J. Development and validation of ego-identity status. Journal of Personal and Social Psychology, 1966, 3, 551-559.
- May, R. The courage to create. New York: Bantam Sooks, 1975.
- McCoy, V. R. Adult life cycle change. Lifelong Learning: The Adult Years, 1977, 16-17.
- McCoy, V. R. Adults in the creative act of inventing new selves. In D. P. Garner (Ed.), The adult learner, the world of work, and career education (Vol. 3, The career educator). Dubuque: Kendall/Hunt, 1978.
- McCoy, V. R., Nalbandian, C., & Ryan, C. CREATE: A new model for career change. Lawrence, KS: Division of Continuing Education, The University of Kansas, 1979.
- McCoy, V., Ryan, C., & Lichtenberg, J. The adult life cycle (Trainer manual/reader). Lawrence, KS: University of Kansas Adult Life Resource Center, 1978.
- Mencke, R. A., & Cochran, D. J. Impact of a counselling outreach workshop on vocational development. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 21, 185-190.
- Nejedlo, R. J. Counseling: A central component in adult education. In Adult Education Association of the USA, Froblem solving in professional adult education. Washington, DC: Author, 1974.



- Nesselroade, J. R., & Reese, H. W. (Eds.). Life span developmental psychology: Methodology. New York: Academic Press, 1972.
- Neugarten, B. L. Personality in middle and late life: Empirical studies. New York: Atherton Press, 1964.
- Neugarten, B. L. The adult years. Winchester, MA: Center for the Study of Liberal Education for Adults, 1965. (ED 012 055)
- Neugarten, B. L. The awareness of middle age. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), Middle age and aging. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Neugarten, B. L. (Ed.). *Middle age and aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Neugarten, B. L. The psychology of aging: An overview. Master Lectures on Developmental Psychology. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association, 1976.
- Neugarten, B. L., & Associates (Eds.). Personality in middle and late life. New York: Atherton Press, 1964.
- Neugarten, B. L., Havighurst, R. J., & Tobin, S. S. The measurement of life satisfaction. *Journal of Gerontology*, 1961, 6, 134-143.
- New light on adult life cycles. Time, April 18, 1975, p. 69.
- O'Neill, N., & O'Neill, G. Shifting gears. New York: M. Evans & Co., 1974.
- Ott, E. Human resources development centers: An outreach program.

 Community College Frontiers, 1978, 6(4), 16-7. (EJ 189 232)
- Otto, H. A. Group methods to actualize human potential: A handbook (2nd Ed.). Beverly Hills: Holistic Press, 1970.
- Palmore, E. (Ed.). Normal aging: Reports from the Duke longitudinal study, 1955-1969. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1970.
- Palmore, E. (Ed.). Normal aging II: Reports from the Duke longitudinal study, 1970-1973. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1974.
- Parkes, C. M. Psycho-social transitions: A field for study. Social Science and Medicine, 1971, 5, 101-115.
- Pines, P. C. Disenchantment in the later years of marriage. In B. L. Neugarten (Ed.), *Middle age and aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968.



- Plotsky, F. A. SOTA, Students Older Than Average: A social group.
 Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American College and Personnel Association, Denver, CO, March 1977. (ED 138 916)
- Porat, F. Changing your life style. Secaucus, NJ: Lyle Stuart, Inc., 1974.
- Reichard, S., Livson, F., & Peterson, P. Aging and personality: A study of eighty-seven older men. New York: Wiley, 1962.
- Riegel, K. F., & Riegel, R. M. A study of changes of attitudes and interests during later years of life. Vita Humana, 1960, 3, 177-206.
- Rogers, C. R. Encounter groups. New York: Harper and Row, 1970.
- Rollins, B. C., & Feldman, H. Marital satisfaction over the family life-cycle. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 1970, 32, 20-28.
- Roth, J. A. Timetables. Indianapolis: Bobbs Merrill, 1963.
- Ruch, F. L. The differentiative effects of age upon human learning. Journal of General Psychology, 1934, 11, 261-285.
- Saleh, S. O., & Otis, J. L. Sources of job satisfaction and their effects on attitudes toward retirement. *Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 1963, 1, 101-106.
- Sandmeyer, L., et al. A program for optimizing wamen's leadership skills (OWLS). Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1977. (ED 150 480)
- Seltz, N. C., & Collier, H. V. (Eds.). Meeting the educational and occupational planning needs of adults. Bloomington, IN: School of Continuing Studies, Indiana University, 1977. (ED 143 885)
- Sheehy, G. Passages: Predictable crises of adult life. New York: E.P. Dutton, 1974.
- Sinick, D. Counseling older persons: Careers, retirement, dying. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1975. (ED 109 588)
- Sinick, D. Counseling older persons: Career change and retirement. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1976, 25(1), 18-25.
- Sinick, D. Mini-reviews of books on mid-life. Counseling Psychologist, 1976, $\underline{6}(1)$, 68-70. (EJ 146 018)



- Smith, C. K., et al. Counseling women for nontraditional careers. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1977. (ED 150 533)
- Sofer, C. Men in mid-career. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1970.
- Stubblefield, H. W. Contributions of continuing education. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1977, 25(4), 351-355. (EJ 160 276)
- Super, E. A theory of vocational development. American Psychologist, 1953, 8, 185-190.
- Super, D. E. The psychology of careers. New York: Harper, 1957.
- Thom, P., et al. The women's resources centre: An educational model for counseling women. Adult Leadership, 1975, 24(4), 129-132. (EJ 130 572)
- Thompson, C. H. (Ed.). Counseling the adult student. Proceedings of a Preconvention Workshop of the Annual Convention of the American College Personnel Association, 1967. (ED 012 857)
- Thompson, C. H. The nature of adult students and the scope of counseling services. In M. L. Farmer (Ed.), Student personnel services for adults in higher education. Meturchen, NJ: Scarecrow Press, 1971.
- Tiedemann, D. V., & O'Hara, R. P. Career development: Choice and adjustment. Princeton, NJ: College Entrance Examination Board, 1963.
- Tiffany, D. W., & Tiffany, P. E. Social unrest: Powerlessness and/or self direction? *American Psychologist*, 1973, <u>28</u>, 151-154.
- Toffler, A. Learning for tomorrow. New York: Vintage, 1 4.
- Tomita, K. Counseling middle-aged and older workers. Journal of Employment Counseling, 1975, 12(3), 100-105. (EJ 122 378)
- Townsend, P. The family life of old people: An inquiry in east London.
 London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1957.
 - Tyler, L. The work of the counselor. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1961.
 - Van Gennep, A. The rites of passage. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1960.



- Wall, J. E. (Ed.). Vocational education for special groups (Sixth yearbook). Washington, DC: American Vocational Association, 1976. (ED 135 940)
- Wallach, M. A., & Kogan, N. Aspects of judgment and decision making: Interrelationships and changes with age. *Behavioral Science*, 1961, 6, 23-36.
- Walz, G. R. Mid-career change: An overview of counseling practices and programs. Searchlight Plus. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1978. (ED 160 905)
- Walz, G. R., & Benjamin, L. Counseling adults for life transitions.
 Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel
 Services, 1980. (ED 181 396)
- Walz, G. R., & Benjamin, L. Programs and practices in adult counseling.
 Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel
 Services, 1981. (ED 199 585)
- Waters, E., & Goodman, J. Career counseling for adults: Why, when, where, how. *Vocational Guidance Quarterly*, 1977, 25(4), 337-342. (EJ 160 274)
- Williams, R. H., & Wirths, C. G. Lives through the years. Chicago: Aldine-Atherton, 1965.
- Zawada, M., & Walz, G. R. Counseling adults. Searchlight Plus. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1980. (ED 181 398)

